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PART I
ITEM 1. BU SINES S
INTRODUCTION

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Werently own and/or operate a total of fifteen aduightclubs that offer live ad
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. ¢fiwir clubs operate under the name "Rick's Cahawae operates under the name NeW
Orleans Nights”, which will be converted to “Rick’ence the ongoing renovation is completed; thrperate under the name “Club Onyx”
upscale venues that welcome all customers but eafezcially to urban professionals, businessmerpesféssional athletes; four of the cl
operate under the name "XTC" and one club thataiperas “Encounters”, and one club that operatésTastsie’s”. Our nightclubs are
Houston, Austin, San Antonio, and Fort Worth, Texa@karlotte, North Carolina; Minneapolis, Minnesdtew York, New York; and Mian
Gardens, Florida. We also own and operate preraigué entertainment Internet websites.

Our online entertainment sites are, CouplesTouah, ¢¢aughtyBids.com and xxxpassword.com. Couplesii@aen is a personals site for th
in the swinging lifestyle. Naughtybids.com is ouine adult auction site. It contains consurmgtiated auctions for items such as adult vid
apparel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia and ett¢ica. There are typically approximately 10,0@6v& auctions at this site at any given ti
We charge the seller a fee for each successfuioaudihe site xxxPassword.com features adult cadisensed through Voice Media, Inc.
of our sites use proprietary software platformsten by us to deliver the best experience to thee without being constrained by off-tisgell
software solutions.

Our website address is wwiR. icks.com. We make available free of charge our Annual ReporForm 10KSB, Quarterly Reports on Fo
10-QSB, Current Reports on FormK8-and all amendments to those reports as sooreasomably practicable after such materii
electronically filed with the SEC under SecuritiEschange Act of 1934, as amended. Information déoethin the website shall not
construed as part of this Form 10-KSB.

References to “us” or “the Company” include our #@6wned, 85%-owned and 51%-owned consolidated giapss.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabaret1883 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclub riess was characterized by si
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were dfignthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance arsbnmality were not maintained and it was custonfaryperformers to alternate betw
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and qualitbar service was low and food was not frequeotfered. Music was usually "hard" rc
and roll, played at a loud level by a disc jock®gually, only cash was accepted. Many businesselémiricomfortable in such environme
Recognizing a void in the market for a firdss adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabartdrget the more affluent customer by providi
unigue quality entertainment environment. The folltg summarizes our areas of operation that distgigus:

Female EntertainersOur policy is to maintain high standards for bp#rsonal appearance and personality for the aimers and waitress:
Of equal importance is a performer's ability togere herself attractively and to talk with custosnéte prefer that the performers we hir
experienced entertainers. We make a determinatidn hether a particular applicant is suitableebasn such factors of appearance, atti
dress, communication skills and demeanor. At albs] except for our Minnesota location, the enteets are independent contractors. W
not schedule their work hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the toplesslustry, as well as from large restaurant and clodirns, in the belief th
management with experience in the sector adds rt@loility to grow and attract quality entertainekdanagement with experience is abl
train new recruits from outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/Employee¥Ve have a policy of ensuring that our businegsisied on in conformity with local, state anddeal laws. i
particular, we have a "no tolerance" policy asllegal drug use in or around the premises. Pogtiaced throughout the nightclubs reinfc
this policy, as do periodic unannounced searchélseoéntertainers' lockers. Entertainers and wssge who arrive for work are not allowe:
leave the premises without the permission of mamage. If an entertainer does leave the premisesisshot allowed to return to work until -
next day. We continually monitor the behavior oftegtainers, waitresses and customers to ensureptbaer standards of behavior
observed.

Compliance Policies/Cred@ards. We review all credit card charges made by outarusrs. We have in place a formal policy requitinat al
credit card charges must be approved, in writiygnanagement before any charges are accepted.
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Management is trained to review credit card chatgesisure that the only charges approved for payare for food, drink and entertainment.

Food and Drink We believe that a key to the success of our mdratiult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaurant operatic
compliment our adult entertainment. We employ serwynanagers who recruit and train professionalstadftand ensure that each custc
receives prompt and courteous service. We emple§schith restaurant experience. Our bar managelar anventory and schedule bar si
We believe that the operation of a first classaestnt is a necessary component to the operatiarpoémiere adult cabaret, as is the prov
of premium wine, liquor and beer in order to ensilva the customer perceives and obtains good v&@ue restaurant operations pro.
business lunch buffets and full lunch and dinnenmeservice with hot and cold appetizers, saladsfosel, steak, and lobster. An exten
selection of quality wines is available.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls are esseiatitile successful operation of a cash intensightoiub and bar business. We h
designed and implemented internal procedures amtkaie to ensure the integrity of our operationall aeaccounting records. Where
practicable, we separate management personneldiocash handling so that management is isolatah find does not handle any cash.
use a combination of accounting and physical inmgntontrol mechanisms to maintain a high levelndégrity in our accounting practic
Information technology plays a significant roledapturing and analyzing a variety of informatiorptovide management with the informat
necessary to efficiently manage and control théatcigh. Deposits of cash and credit card receiptsreconciled each day to a daily incc
report. In addition, we review on a daily basis dgsh and credit card summaries which tie togeditiecash and credit card transacti
occurring at the front door, the bars in the clald ¢he cashier station, (i) a summary of the dadytenders' cheatt reports, and (iii) a dali
cash requirements analysis which reconciles theigue day's cash on hand to the requirements fm#xt day's operations. These ¢
computer reports alert management of any variaficen expected financial results based on historivatms. We conduct a mont|
independent overview of our financial condition apérating results.

Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faesliand decor. The furniture and furnishings inrtlgdhtclubs create the feeling
an upscale restaurant. The sound system providdygsound at levels at which conversations cdhtake place. The environment is caref
monitored for music selection, entertainer and ngag appearance and all aspects of customer serviae&ontinuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the wgret of the businessmen's market, some of our nigigénclude a VIP roor
which is open to individuals who purchase membesshA VIP room provides a higher level of servioel duxury.

Advertising and Promotion Our consumer marketing strategy is to positiookRi Cabarets as premiere entertainment facilitias provid
exceptional topless entertainment in a fun, yetrdist, environment. We use a variety of highly ééed methods to reach our customers:
publications, local radio, cable television, newssra, billboards, taxtab reader boards, and the Internet, as well agiaty of promotion:
campaigns. These campaigns ensure that the Riak'ar€ name is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amoumedia exposure over the years in national magazneh as Playboy, Penthouse, Glar
Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time MagaziimreeTOut New York, and Texas Monthly Magazine. Segim@bout Rick's have aired
national and local television programs such as2@Q/"Extra" and "Inside Edition", and we have pidsd entertainers for Pay-Perew
features as well. Business stories about Rick'safealhave appeared in The Wall Street Journal,Néwe York Times, The New York Po
Los Angeles Times, Houston Business Journal, antenous other regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name “Rickdbatet’in Houston, San Antonio, and Austin, Texas, Minraap Minnesota, and Ne
York, New York. We operate a similar type club anthe name of “New Orleans Nightis' Fort Worth, Texas. We are currently renova
the second floor of the building and plan to chatigename to Ricls once it is completed. We also operate a simitgintclub under the nar
“Tootsie’s” in Miami Gardens, Florida. We also oge two nightclubs in Houston and one in Charloiterth Carolina, as “Club Onyx”
upscale venues that welcome all customers but eafcially to urban professionals, businessmerpasféssional athletes. Additionally,
own four nightclubs in San Antonio, Austin, and Ktan, Texas that operate under the name XTC. W @al New Orleans, Louisia
nightclub in March 1999, but it continues to use tame “Rick’s Cabaret” under a licensing agreement
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RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1.

On May 9, 2006, we purchased Joint Ventures, lac.operator of an adult nightclub in South Houstbexas, formerly known .
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HauBted. The purchase price of $840,000 was paidaish. The club, located i
Houston suburb, has been converted to an XTC Cal

On July 7, 2006, we entered into a stock purchgseeaent to acquire Texas Sé&l, Inc., a Texas capmr, for $125,000, consisting
$55,000 paid in cash at closing and $70,000 iwe year note payable bearing interest at a raf®oper annum. The note was paid o
full. Texas S&l, Inc. owned and operated Club fic@in San Antonio. We have converted this chitio “Club Encountel”.

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Debit S=sj Inc., acquired 99% of the ownership interestri adult entertainment cabi
known as “Centerfolds’located at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TexAdditionally, under the terms of the transacti@ui
subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100% of thierest in the improved real property upon wh@énterfolds is located. The tc
purchase price for the business and real propeay $2,900,000. Under terms of the agreement, vd tha owners of the club a
property $600,000 in cash at the time of closind signed promissory notes for the remaining balamceaddition, certain members of
current ownership structure entered a five-yearenant not to compete with us. We have converteddiab into “Rick's Cabaret S¢
Antonic”.

On November 10, 2006, we purchased a 51% ownenstapest of Playma’s Gentleme’s Club LLC, an operator of an adult nightclu
Austin, Texas. The club is located at 8110 Spritgy@dreet, Austin, Texas. The purchase price d5(K1,000 was paid $500,000 cas
closing and 125,000 shares of our restricted comstook. The club has been converted to a “Rick’daCet Austin”.As part of th
agreement, twelve months after the closing dateséiler has the right, but not the obligationh&we us buy the shares at a price of ¢
per share at a rate of no more than 5,000 sharemngath until such time as the seller receivestal wf $1,000,000 from the sale of s
shares. Alternatively, the seller has the optiorséd such shares in the open market. The tramsaetias the result of armengtt
negotiations between the parti

On April 23, 2007, we completed a transaction fog purchase of 100% of the outstanding common stdécW.K.C., Inc., a Tex:
corporation (the "Business"), which owned and ofelaan adult entertainment cabaret known as NewaDs Nights ("New Orlea
Nights") located in Fort Worth, Texas. Pursuanthe Stock Purchase Agreement, we acquired thenBssifor a total cash purchase
of $4,900,000. In addition, RCI Holdings, Incyravholly owned subsidiary ("RCI"), entered into Assignment of that certain R
Estate Sales Contract between the owner of theepsopnd W.K.C., Inc. for the purchase of the y@alperty located at 7101 Calmc
Fort Worth, Texas 76116 (the "Real Property") whiew Orleans Nights is located for a total purchpgee of $2,500,000, whi
consisted of $100,000 in cash and $2,400,000 payatd six year promissory note to the sellers thidll accrue interest at the rate
7.25% for the first two years, 8.25% for years ¢haad four and 9.25% thereafter (the "PromissorieNo The Promissory Note is secu
by a Deed of Trust and Security Agreement. FurtR€ entered into an Assignment and Assumptioheafse Agreement with the sell
to assume the lease agreement for the Real Propéfeyare currently renovating the second floothef building and plan to change
name to Ric’s once it is completel

On May 10, 2007, we entered into a Licensing Agresimwith Rick's Buenos Aires Sociedad Anonima (‘#nisee”),a corporatio
organized under the laws of Argentina. Under #rens of the Licensing Agreement, we agreed to grésgnsee a license for use
exploitation of our logos, trademarks and servicrks for the operation of an adult entertainmeutlify in the city of Buenos Aire
Argentina, and Latin America. Pursuant to the agrent, Licensee agreed to pay us a royalty feeléqui0% of gross revenues
Licensees business, net of any value added tax. No clulbpesed as of this time, but plans are for thetionao open for business by
end of the second quarter of 20

Subsequent to the end of the fiscal year, on Noegr80, 2007, we entered into a Stock Purchase Aggeefor the acquisition of 100%
the issued and outstanding common stock of Stellmagement Corporation, a Florida corporation (@iellar Stock™) and 100% of t
issued and outstanding common stock of Miami Gadgquare One, Inc., a Florida corporation (the "MdG&ock") which owns at
operates an adult entertainment cabaret known @stSie’s Cabaret” ("Tootsig”) located at 150 NW 183rd Street, Miami Gardéitaride
33169 (the "Transaction™). Pursuant to the Stociclfase Agreement, we acquired the Stellar StocktlaedGSO Stock from Norm.
Hickmore ("Hickmore") and Richard Stanton ("Starfjdior a total purchase price of $25,000,000 pag&til5,000,000 in cash and pay:
$10,000,000 pursuant to two Secured Promissory Nioteghe amount of $5,000,000 each to Stanton acHnkbre (the "Notes"). Tt
Notes will bear interest at the rate of 14% peruammwith the principal payable in one lump sum pagtr@ November 30, 2010. Inter
on the Notes will be payable monthly, in arrearighuhe first payment being due thirty (30) dayteathe closing of the Transaction.
cannot prepay the Notes during the first twelve (12) monthgreafter, we may prepay the Notes, in whole grairt, provided that (i) ai
prepayment by us from December 1, 2008 through hinez 30, 2009, shall be paid at a rate of 110%efariginal principal amount a
(ii) any prepayment by the Company after NovemtEr2®09, may be prepaid without penalty at a r&t€00% of the original princip
amount. The Notes are secured by the Stellar $todkVIGSO Stock under a Pledge and Security Agreel
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Additionally, as part of the Transaction, we entleireo Assignment to Lease Agreements with theltanddfor the property where Tootsse’
is located. The underlying Lease Agreements forpituperty provide for an original lease term thrhougine 30, 2014, with two opti
periods which give us the right to lease the priypiirough June 30, 2034. The terms and conditadribe transaction were the resul
extensive arm's length negotiations between thigegar

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT W EB SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet website operatio@sir xxxPassword.com website features adult corigrised through Voice Media, li
We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a datingcattring to those in the swinging lifestyle. Weensity purchased CouplesClick.ne
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireottd broaden our membership throughout the Uriitiadies. As part of this transaction,
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operatgsan addition to our internet operations, to aeq@ouplesClick.net from ClickMatc
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouaindo RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactiee obtained an 85% interest in |
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasehof traffic from thirdsarty adult sites or Internet domain owners andptirehase of banr
advertisements or "key word" searches from Inteseatch engines. In addition, the bulk of our icafibw comes from search engines on w
we don't pay for preferential listings. There atemerous adult entertainment sites on the Intehratdompete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SIT ES

Our adult auction site features erotica and otliedtanaterials that are purchased in a &s#- method. We charge the seller a fee for
successful auction. Where previously we operated isdividual auctions sites, now we have combinéeéseé into one main si
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagniof this site. The site contains new and useédltaoriented consumer initiat
auctions for items such as adult videos, appaheligsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBids lsasnapproximately 10,000 items for sa
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pamgbmasters an opportunity to create residual incérom web surfers through t
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing ausida in which the buyer origina
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenaraerous auction sites on the Internet that @ffledt products and erotica.

TRANSACTION WITH VOICE MEDIA

In May 2002, we purchased 700,000 shares of our@wammon stock from Voice Media, Inc. for an aggtegarice of $918,700 (or $795,:
adjusted for imputed interest) that equals apprakéty $1.32 per share. That purchase price wasabelarket value on the date of
purchase. Voice Media, Inc. presently owns nonewfshares of common stock. These shares are fyebeld as treasury shares. We 1
cancel these shares at a later date. The contrebpef Voice Media, Inc. is Ron Levi, who was adgtor until June 2002. We believe
transaction was favorable to us in view of the mankalue of our common stock and the payment teattispugh no appraisal or fairn
opinion was done. All management contracts preWosigned relating to the management of xxxPassword will remain in effect. Pursuz
to the transaction, the purchase price was to likipdour annual installments. We paid off thigea full during fiscal year 2006.

TRANSACTION WITH TAURUS ENTERTAINMENT

On June 12, 2003, we entered into an Asset Purdhgiment with Taurus Entertainment Companies, (fn€aurus” ),whereby we acquire
all the assets and liabilities of Taurus in excleafag 3,752,008 shares of Taurus out of the 4,@®tBat we owned plus $20,000 in cash.
also executed an Indemnification and Traactson Fee Agreement with Taurus for which we nee@i$270,000 in cash, with $140,000 pay
at closing, $60,000 due on July 15, 2003 and $T0¢@ on August 15, 2003. We have received thedDP6ayment and have restructurec
remaining balance orgdinally due August 15, 2003, with a note receivaidaring 12% annual interest over a five year téfhe note we
collateralized by 3,000,000 shares of Taurus, noawin as Bluestar Health, Inc. (“ Bluestar” ). Weeclosed on the collateralized share
August 2006. As such, we presently own the shamdsha vehe ability to sell them in the open market. AsSeptember 30, 2007, the valu
the shares totals approximately $450,000. As theuaindue has been fully collateralized since thie meceivable agreement was entered
we believe such collateral will fully satisfy such anmb due, no allowance has been provided nor is ddemcessary as of September 30,
and 2006. We intend to achieve collectibility eittierough repurchase of the stes by Bluestar Health, Inc. or by selling the slan the ope
market or in a private transaction.
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COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgbljicompetitive with respect to price, service dmchtion. All of our nightclubs compe
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somevbbse names may have name recognition that ethatlsf Rick's Cabaret or XTC. Wh
there may be restrictions on the location of acalted "sexually oriented business”, there are awidrs to entry into the adult cabs
entertainment market. For example, there are appaigly 50 adult nightclubs located in the Houstmea, all of which are in dire
competition with our Houston cabarets. In MinneépdRick's Cabaret is favorably located downtowd &na short walk from the Metrodo
Stadium and the Target Center. There are two adigifitclubs in Minneapolis in direct competition Wwitis. In Charlotte, there are two n
competitors. We are centrally located with easyeasdo our location from the airport and the spstdsium. There are approximately 16 a
clubs in Manhattan of which seven compete with Ric®nly one of those competitors is located in tdidn. Rick’s location is one block fro
the Empire State Building and one block from MadiSmuare Garden. Amtrak and local commuter traéve Istation stops within one block
Rick’s location at Penn Station and we are locatednjust blocks from Times Square. There are severt atlds in Austin and nine in S
Antonio that are in direct competition with our lots Our Ricks Austin is located at Springdale in between High®80 and the new Highw
130 (Austin By-pass). We anticipate a significamtrease in traffic when the construction on Highwl®p is completed. Our Rick’Sal
Antonio is located at 85 in the northern part of the city. In Fort Worllexas, there are approximately four competitdnsthe Miami, Florid.
market, there are approximately 15 competitors.

The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret", "XTC Cabaand “Club Onyx"are proprietary. We believe that the combinatiorowf existing
brand name recognition and the distinctive entemaint environment that we have created will allemaicompete effectively in the indus
and within the cities where we operate. The sexumiented business industry is highly competitivigh respect to price, service and locat
as well as the professionalism of the entertaingithough we believe that we are well positionedctonpete successfully, there can b
assurance that we will be able to maintain our téglel of name recognition and prestige within tierketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and liawes affecting our business activities. In partizyin Texas the authority to issue a perrr
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TeXashblic Beverage Commission (“TABC"\yhich has the authority, in its discretion, to &
the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MiBsverage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. These Perané subject to annual rene\
provided we have complied with all rules and retiotes governing the permits. Renewal of a permduibject to protest, which may be m
by a law enforcement agency or by the public. & ¢wvent of a protest, the TABC may hold a hearing/tdch time the views of interesi
parties are expressed. The TABC has the authdtéy such hearing not to issue a renewal of théegted alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's
never been the subject of a protest hearing agdiesenewal of Permits. Minnesota, North Carolarad New York have similar laws that n
limit the availability of a permit to sell alcoholibeverages or that may provide for suspensiorewocation of a permit to sell alcohc
beverages in certain circumstances. It is our pppcior to expanding into any new market, to takeps to ensure compliance with all licen
and regulatory requirements for the sale of aldoHmverages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in Houssod in many other cities, the location «
topless cabaret is subject to restriction by cigirtance. Topless nightclubs in Houston, Texassatgect to "The Sexually Oriented Busir
Ordinance", which contains prohibitions on the tawa of an adult cabaret. The prohibitions deal egally with distance from schoc
churches, and other sexually oriented businessisa@mtain restrictions based on the percentagesifiences within the immediate vicinity
the sexually oriented business. The granting oxu8lly Oriented Business Permit is not subjeaditzretion; the Business Permit mus
granted if the proposed operation satisfies theirements of the Ordinance. In all states whereoperate, management believes we a
compliance with applicable city, county, state tines local laws governing the sale of alcohol aeduslly oriented businesses. (Séeda
Proceedings" herein.)

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the trademarks "Rick's" and "Rickab@ret" are established under common law, based aposubstantial and continuous us
these trademarks in interstate commerce sinceast &s early as 1987. We have registered our semvick, 'RICK'S AND STARS DESIGNM
with the United States Patent and Trademark Offi¢e.have also obtained service mark registrations the Patent and Trademark Office
the "RICK'S CABARET" service mark. There can beassurance that the steps we have taken to prateseovice marks will be adequatt
deter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2007, we had approximately é8loyees, of which 116 are in management positiorduding corporate ai
administrative and Internet operations and appreiéfy 580 of which are engaged in entertainmerdgdfand beverage service, incluc
bartenders, waitresses, and entertainers. Noneroémployees are represented by a union. We cansitteemployee relations to be gc
Additionally, as of September 30, 2007, we had jreaelent contractor relationships with approximately00 entertainers, who are self-
employed and perform at our locations on a erolusive basis as independent contractors. Oertaimers in Minneapolis, Minnesota ac
commissioned employees. We believe that the ahtiétrtainment industry standard of treating enitegta as independent contractors prow

us with safe harbor protection to preclude paytad assessment for prior years. We have prepaits ghat we believe will protect ¢
profitability in the event that the sexually oriedtbusiness industry is required in all statesoiovert entertainers who are now indepen
contractors into employees.
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SHARE REPURCHASES

As of September 30, 2007, we owned 908,530 treashiayes of our common stock that we acquired imaparket purchases and fr
investors who originally acquired the shares fra@ariruprivate transactions. At this time, we do hate any plan to use these shares to ac
any assets.

On September 16, 2003, our Board of Directors aizbd us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofcomnmon stock. No shares have
purchased under this program.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located at 10956tten Road, Houston, Texas 77066, which consfsés3000 square feet office/warehc
building. We purchased this property in Decembe¥42for $512,739, payable with $86,279 cash at otpsind $426,460 in a promissory r
carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. The mgrmhyment is $3,834. As of September 30, 2007btience of the mortgage was $377,
The last mortgage payment is due in 2019. We belidnat our offices are adequate for our presentisead that suitable space will
available to accommodate our future needs.

We own three locations of Rick's Cabaret (in Hons®an Antonio and Minneapolis), two Club Onyx lib@as in Houston, oneNew Orlean
Night” in Fort Worth, Texas, and two locations of XTC fiostin and in San Antonio). In Houston, we own gheperty where a club known
“Iniquity” is located (previously “Club Encountens; which is currently under lease to Iniquity LLC. \i&ase property for our XTC Sol
(Houston), XTC North (Houston), Club Encountersn(@antonio), Rick’s Cabaret-New York, Club Onyx Cludte, Rick’s Cabarefustin ant
Tootsie's (Miami Gardens, Florida) locations.

CLUB PROPERTIES WE OWN:

1. Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, laasaggregate 12,300 square feespace. In December 2004, we paid off the
mortgage and obtained a new one with an initished of $1,270,000 and amerest rate of 10% per annum over a 10 year t&tre
money received from this new note was used to fiaghe acquisition of the Bw York club. As of September 30, 2007, the bal
of the mortgage was $1,208,957. During fiscal y2207, we paid $12,256 in monthly principal and iies¢ payments. The mont|
payment is calculated based on a 20 year amodizatihedule. The last o rtgage payment is due in 20:

2. The Rick's Cabaret, located on North Belt DriveHouston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In Noger@®04, we obtained
mortgage using this property as collateral. Thegypal balance of the new mortgage was $1,088, with an annual interest rate
10% over a 10 year term. The money received from ribw note was used to finance the acquisitiothefNew York club. As ¢
September 30, 2007, the balance of the mortgage$®88,126. The monthly payment of prinpal and interest is $10,056. 1
monthly payment is calculated based on a 20 yeartazation schedule. The last mortgage paymentiésid 2014

3. The Rick's Cabaret located in Minneapolis has 1Ggfuare feet of space. The balance, as of Septe30, 2007, that we owe on
mortgage is $1,839,771 and the interest rate is\®8%.pay $22,732 in monthly principal and intereaympents. The last mortge
payment is due in 2009 with a balloon payment q7$4,432.

4. The XTC nightclub in Austin has $00 square feet of space, which sits on 1.2 aaffdand. In August 2005, we restructured
mortgage by extending the term to 10 years. Tharal of the mortgage that we owe as of Septemhe2(®Y is $217,891 with .
interest rate of 11% and montly principal and interest payments of $3,445. In &ober 2004, we obtained an additional mort¢
The principal balance of the new mortgage was £, with an annual interest rate of 11% over gydér term. In June and J
2005, we obtained addition a | funds in the amair$200,000. In August 2005n4e combined the additional funds into the $900
mortgage. The money received from this new note uwgesl to finance the acquisition and renovatiorthef New York club. Tk
monthly principal and interespayment is $15,034. As of September 30, 2007 btiiance of the mortgage was $950,817. The
payments for both mortgages are due in 2!
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5.

10.

11.

We own XTC nightclub in San Antonio, which has Q&®uare feet of space. In November 2004, we addagnmortgage using tl
property as collateral. The principal balance & tew mortgage was $590,000, with an annual irtteaés of 10% over a 10 ye
term. The money received from this new note wagl usefinance the acquisition and renovation of Mew York club. As ¢
September 30, 2007, the balance of this mortgage $860,628. The monthly principal and interest pawytris $5,694. The le
mortgage payment is due in 20:

The San Antonicproperty wherea club known a“ Encounter¢” is located ha8,000 square feet of space. In December 2004, Vd
off the mortgage we previously had. In November£@6gether with property in Austin, this propevtgs used as additional collate
to secure the $900,000 mortgage above. BeginnipteBder 1, 20 G, we began receiving a monthly lease paymenterathount ¢
$5,500 for this spac

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owns a 3&6re ranch in Brazoria County, Texas. During fisgedr 2006, we paid $2,573
monthly principal and interest paymes. A balloon payment of $287,920 was paid in M&2086.

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owned approxigigt50 acres of raw land in Wise County, Texas. bakance as of Septem
30, 2006 that we owed on the Wise County raw landgage was $13457 with an interest rate of 12%. We paid $1,58mbnthly
principal and interest payments. On October 11620@ sold these properties for $165,000, which thasamount we had recorc
for such properties at September 30, 2006, aftording a $68 , 134 impairment charge at SepterBbe2006. The proceeds wi
used to pay off the mortgac

On April 5, 2006, our wholly owned subsidiary, REoldings, Inc. completed the acquisition of readerty located at 9009 Airpt
Blvd., Houston, Texas wherwe currently operate Club Onyx South (previottslynmers Sports Bar and XTC South clubs). Pur:
to the terms of the agreement, we paid a totakgaiiee of $1,300,000, which consisted of $500,@0€ash and 160,000 shares of
restricted commostock.

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Holdings;. lacquired 100% of the interest in the improveal property upon which ¢
Rick’'s-San Antonio is located. The total purchase pricetfe business and real property was $2,900,00@etJterms of th
agreement, the Company paid the owners of theahabproperty $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory na
for the remaining balanc

On April 23, 2007, in addition to the acquisitiohl®0% of the outstanding common stock of W.K.@g.] which owned and opera
a cabaret known as ‘New Orleans NigiRCI Holdings, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary tened into an Assignment of that cer
Real Estate Sales Contract between the owner gbribygerty and W.K.C., Inc. for the purchase of tbal property located at 71
Calmont, Fort Worth, Texas 76116 where New Orladigits is located for a total purchase price 06$2,000, which consisted
$100,000 in cash and $2,400,000 payable in a ik p@missory note to the sellers which will accinterest at the rate of 7.25%
the first two years, 8.25% for years three and fand 9.25% thereafter. The promissory note isregcby a Deed of Trust a
Security Agreement. Further, RCI Holdings, Incteeed into an Assignment and Assumption of Leased&ment with the sellers
assume the lease agreement for the Real Propéftyare currently renovating the second floor oftthéding and plan to change
name to Ric’s once it is complete:

CLUB PROPERTIES WE LEASE:

1.

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereX@@ North is located. The lease term is for fivegge beginning March 2004, w
an additional five-year lease option thereaftere onthly rent was $8,000 until August 31, 20@6which time the monthly base r
increased to $9,00!

We lease the property in New York City, New Yorlheve our Rick s Cabaret NYC is located. We assumed the existiagel, whic
will terminate in April 2023. The monthly rent w&41,469 until May 2007, at which time the monthly base rent incedas $42,71.
Under the term of the existing lease, the baseweéhincrease by approximately 3% each ye

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Caroliwhere our Club Onyx Charlotte is loted. We executed an amended lea:
February 2007, which will terminate in February 20TThe monthly rent is $17,500 until February 2040which time the month
base rent will increase to $18,500 until Februdi¥Z, at which time the rent will esdate to $20,000 until February 20

We lease the property in South Houston, Texas, vbar XTC South is located. The lease term is éveatynine months, beginni
May 1, 2006. The monthly rent is $3,000 for thetffiorty-three months and $3,5thereafter

We lease the property in San Antonio, Texas, wioereClub Encounters club is located. The lease isrfor five years, beginnir
July 1, 2006, with monthly rent of $5,0(
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6. We lease the property in Austin, Texas, where oitk’'R Cabaret Austin is located. The lease term islforyears, beginnir
November 10, 2006, with monthly payments of $29,80@ also have the option to renew for another&ars.

7. We lease the property in Miami Gardens, FloridagmghTootsi’s is located with monthly rent of $70,938. UndexAssignment o
Lease, the original lease term continues througie B0, 2014, with two option periods which givethisright to lease the property
through June 30, 203

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEE DING S
SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS ORDINANCE OF HOUSTON, ™AS

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofuston passed a comprehensive new Ordinance rewyldte location of and the cond
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the “Ordindhc@he Ordinance established new minimum distancesSfrually Oriented Busines:
may be located from schools, churches, playgrowam$ other sexually oriented businesses. There wer@rovisions in the Ordinan
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagedea renewal of its operating permit due to clesnig distance requirements undel
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafiar a period of time (the “Amortization Periodf)the owner were unable to recoup, by
effective date of the Ordinance, its investmentthe business that was incurred through the dat¢hefpassage and approval of
Ordinance. Our nightclub in our south Houston tmcahad a valid temporary permit/license. Thenmi&s for our north Houston location &
our Bering Drive location have expired.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodlity of the entire Ordinance w
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the Wsstrict Court for the Southern District of Texddpuston Division, struck down cert
provisions of the Ordinance, including the provisimandating a 1,500 foot distance between a clabsahools, churches and other sext
oriented businesses, leaving intact the provisiothe 750 foot distance as it existed prior to @relinance. The City of Houston appealec
District Court’s rulings with the Fifth Circuit Couof Appeals.

In November 2003, a three judge panel from thenRfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opinishich affirmed the Trial Cour$ ruling
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer i distances and licensing of dancers and.sfie Court of Appeals, however, did
follow the Trial Courts ruling regarding the distance from which a cluyrbe located from a church or school. The Colu#tppeals held thi
a distance measurement of 1,500 feet would be dpif@n a showing by the City of Houston that iirals that there were alternative <
available for relocating clubs could be substaetlatThe case was remanded for trial on the issueseddliternative sites.

The trial commenced on December 4, 2006 and coadloth December 12, 2006. The Trial Court rendasgjddgment in favor of the City
Houston on January 31, 2007. The Trial Court fotlvad the City of Houston met its burden that theege sufficient alternate sites availabl
relocate all of the existing businesses in 199fe Trial Court found the 1997 ordinance constingicand enforceable. Pdsial motions wer
heard and the relief sought, a stay against enfogog was denied by the Trial Court. An appeath® Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals w
timely filed. The Fifth Circuit granted a stagmiling appeal. Oral argument was held before ittle €ircuit Court of Appeals on August
2007. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals ruledfavor of the City of Houston in September 2007edelings have been filed seeking a
against enforcement of the provisions of the omdgeawith the United States Supreme Court in conjonowith the request that the Uni
States Supreme Court hear an appeal of the FifttuiCiCourt of Appeals ruling. Neither relief nany indication of the Supreme Court’
position on the appeal has been received to date.

Additionally, we have filed on behalf of three aircclub locations in Houston state court lawsuésking judicial review of the results of
amortization process contained within the OrdinanClkis process was abated in 1998 due to the lgessiultiplicity of court actions. TI
final order by the Trial Court resulted in the témation of the abatement and allowed the amortpagirocess to continue as provided in
Ordinance. We are presently in discussions wigh@ity of Houston to attempt to resolve this mattétris anticipated that further injunct
relief will be sought in the state court cases #thitlbecome necessary. In the event all effartstop enforcement activity fail and the City
Houston elects to enforce the judgment, we, as age#very other similarly situated sexually orienbeisiness located within the incorpor:
area of Houston, Texas, will have to either ceasgiging nude or semiiude entertainment or develop alternate methodpefating. In suc
event, we presently intend to clothe our entertaifre a manner to eliminate the need for licensesta take such steps as to not be subj
SOB ordinance compliance. Approximately 23.7% af dub operatiors revenues for the twelve months ended Septemhe2(BT were i
Houston, Texas. The ruling could have a matedskese impact on our operations, but it is unknaivthis time.

OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On October 6, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the #2idicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-C15656 and style
Edward Jimenez, et al v. Ri’ s Cabaret International, Inc., et alThis is a wrongful death and personal injury eaasaction against tv
individuals, based upon negligence theories, améhagus, based upon an alleged “joint enterpriisedry and alleged “dram shopiblations
arising out of a tworehicle collision on August 1, 2006. The collisioocurred prior to our acquiring Spiros Partners. [Sdiros Partners L1
owns and operates our Rick’s San Antonio. Plasiifttlude the parents - one of whom was drivimg the two juvenile decedents, one of
decedens minor siblings and another minor child, both dfom were also passengers in the car that was syitke allegedly intoxicat:
defendant driver. Plaintiffs are seeking unspedifidamages for past and future physical pain arférslg, mental anguish, physii
impairment, loss of companionship and consortiwmefal and medical expenses, property damagesexerdplary damages. Managen



has denied any liability for this accident and igovously defending the lawsuit, which is presentiythe discovery process with a motion
summary judgment (based upon there being no evidensupport any claim or contention against u$etdiled at the conclusion of the curt
phase of discovery.
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On June 2, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the Qludicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-008592 and style
Richard P. Branson v. Spiros Partner, Ltd. d/b/@Henthouse Clu. This incident underlying this action occurredopiio our acquiring Spirt
Partners Ltd. Spiros Partners Ltd. owns and opseratir Ricks San Antonio. This was a fraud, assault, abuggarfess, invasion of priva
and slander action based upon the plaitiffllegation that the Club intentionally took adeeye of and assaulted him while he was thei
July 3, 2004, then subsequently was responsiblehfermalicious prosecution by the Bexar County iistAttorney. Plaintiff sougl
unspecified damages for past and future physical pad suffering, mental anguish, physical disahilfinancial injury and exempla
damages. Management does not believe it is lifaolany of the damages. There was no insuranceragedor the acts complained of by
plaintiff. Management denied any liability for tleeallegations and vigorously defended the lawgdit. December 13, 2006, our motion
summary judgment (based upon the plaintiff haviagewidence to support any of his contentions) wastgd in full. The plaintiff has appea

this judgment and we have responded. The casendimebefore the X court of Appeals in San Antonio, Texas.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MA TTER S TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We held our Annual Meeting of Shareholders on Bily2007. Eric S. Langan, Robert L. Watters, StedveJenkins, Alan Bergstrom, Tra
Reese and Luke Lirot were nominated and electé&irastors with the following vote results at theastholder meeting:

For Withheld
Eric S. Langar 4,776,63: 589,15¢
Robert L. Watter: 4,651,541 714,24«
Steven L. Jenkin 5,343,36! 22,43(
Alan Bergstrorn 5,339,84! 25,95(
Travis Rees:i 4,775,51 590,27
Luke Lirot 5,337,59! 28,20(

At the Annual Meeting, the Shareholders ratifieditlély Penn LLP as the Company’s Independent RagidtBublic Accounting Firm for the
fiscal year ending September 30, 2007, with thiefghg vote results:

5,325,365 Votes FOR Ratificatiol
23,16 Votes AGAINST Ratificatior
17,466  Votes ABSTAINING

At the Annual Meeting, the Shareholders approv&&eeond Amendment to the Company999 Stock Option Plan with the following v
results:

2,955,217 Votes FOR Ratificatiol
646,65¢ Votes AGAINST Ratificatior
9,521 Votes ABSTAINING

While no other matters were presented at the AnMeadting, the following votes were submitted by ®@lders with respect to any ot
business coming before the Annual Meeting of Shadshns:

4,381,77- Votes FOR Ratificatiol
775,921 Votes AGAINST Ratificatior
208,29  ABSTAINING

The meeting was adjourned when all matters of ssimad been discussed.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR R EGIST RANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS A ND SMALL
BUSINESS ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global kaunder the symbol "RICK". The following tabletséorth the quarterly high a
low of sales prices per share for the common stockhe last two fiscal years.

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal 2007

First Quartel $ 8.8¢ $ 5.27
Second Quarte $ 11.0¢ $ 6.21
Third Quartel $ 9.7t $ 8.2¢
Fourth Quarte $ 12.4¢ $ 7.8¢
Fiscal 200¢

First Quarte! $ 3.8¢ $ 2.92
Second Quarte $ 6.2C $ 3.7¢
Third Quartel $ 7.4C $ 5.3(C
Fourth Quarte $ 797 $ 6.0¢

On December 7, 2007, the last sales price for dinenton stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Mavkas $23.32. On December 7, 2007,
there were approximately 3,512 stockholders ofmetod the common stock.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our commooksi® American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 58idén Lane, New York, New Yo
10038.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend tp gash dividends on our common stock in the foraiskeefuture. Our current policy is
retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds fqreoation and expansion of our business. The ddidaraf dividends, if any, will be subject
the discretion of the Board of Directors, which n@ynsider such factors as our results of operafioancial condition, capital needs ¢
acquisition strategy, among others.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aizéha us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofammmon stock. No shares have
purchased under this program.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compeisatplans as of September 30, 2007:

Number of securities
remaining available f or
Weighted-average future issuance
- exercise under equity
Number of securities to be price of compensation plans
issued upon exercise of . . . ..
outstanding options, warrants outstanding options, (excluding securities
and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 545,000 $3.61 438,000
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EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andirriety qualified personnel, we believe that oumfatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiatl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
equity ownership is an important factor in our éypito attract and retain skilled personnel. Wedadopted stock option plans (the “Plarfst)
employees and directors. The purpose of the P&atwsfurther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in
form of stock options to key employees and directeho contribute materially to our success andifadoifity. The grants recognize and rew
outstanding individual performances and contrimgi@nd will give such persons a proprietary inteieaus, thus enhancing their persc
interest in our continued success and progress.Plaes also assist us and our subsidiaries inctitigpand retaining key employees
directors. The Plans are administered by the Bo&firectors. The Board of Directors has the exglipower to select the participants in
Plans, to establish the terms of the options gdatdeeach participant, provided that all optionanged shall be granted at an exercise
equal to at least 85% of the fair market valueh&f tommon stock covered by the option on the ghateé and to make all determinati
necessary or advisable under the Plans.

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Opti@m Rthe “1999 Plan™vith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusmler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Aiment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentifich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1,000,000. In July 2007, sharehsldgmproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Almemt”) which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1,500,000. As pfedeber 30, 2007, 545,000 stock options were aqudgtg under the 1999 Plan.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During the quarter ended September 30, 2007, weplsted the following transactions in reliance ugxemptions from registration under
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") mwided in Section 4(2) thereof. All certificatessiied in connection with these transac
were endorsed with a restrictive legend confirmiihgt the securities could not be resold withoutstegtion under the Act or an applica
exemption from the registration requirements of Aot. None of the transactions involved a publifedhg, underwriting discounts or sg
commissions. We believe that each person was dalifigdd investor within the meaning of the Act and had khedlge and experience
financial and business matters, which allowed themvaluate the merits and risks of our securitggh person was knowledgeable abou
operations and financial condition.

In August 2007, a holder of a convertible debentmeverted $125, 576 of principal and interest oméal 26,437 shares of our restricted
common stock.

ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DIS CUSSIO N AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS O F
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorcivith our audited consolidated financial stataetseand the related notes to the finar
statements included in this Form 10-KSB.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemienthis Form 10KSB to make applicable and take advantage of tfeetssrbor provision «
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of Bfbr any forward-looking statements made by uswrbehalf of us. Forwarlboking
statements include statements concerning planecigs, goals, strategies, future events or pedioce and underlying assumptions and «
statements, which are other than statements afrtdat facts. Certain statements in this Form 1®BK&e forwardlooking statements. Wor
such as "expects,” "believes," "anticipates,” "maynd "estimates” and similar expressions are dedrto identify forwardeoking statement
Such statements are subject to risks and unceetsititat could cause actual results to differ niatgrfrom those projected. Such risks .
uncertainties are set forth below. Our expectatibefiefs and projections are expressed in godt &id we believe that they have a reasol
basis, including without limitation, our examinatiof historical operating trends, data containedun records and other data available 1
third parties. There can be no assurance thatxqectations, beliefs or projections will result, &ehieved, or be accomplished. In additio
other factors and matters discussed elsewherdsr-tirm 10KSB, the following are important factors that inrotew could cause mater
adverse affects on our financial condition and ltssof operations: the risks and uncertaintiesteeldo our future operational and finan
results, the risks and uncertainties relating to loternet operations, competitive factors, theirignof the openings of other clubs,

availability of acceptable financing to fund corate expansion efforts, our dependence on key peesote ability to manage operations
the future operational strength of managementthadaws governing the operation of adult ententgint businesses. We have no obligatic
update or revise these forward-looking statementsftect the occurrence of future events or cirstances.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higigrete of risk. You should carefully consider theksidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any ofethents, contingencies, circumstances or conditit@seribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resoft operations could be seriously harmed. Thertgagdrice of our Common Stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations arei§ject to Regulatory Uncertainties Which May Afféntir Ability to Continue Operations of Existing Miglubs
Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businesggislaged by local zoning, local and state lic
licensing, local ordinances and state and fedéra place and manner restrictions. The adult eaitertent provided by our nightclubs
elements of speech and expression and, therefojeysesome protection under the First Amendmenthe United States Constitutit
However, the protection is limited to the expressiand not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileraghtclubs are generally well establishe
their respective markets, there can be no assuthatéocal, state and/or federal licensing anceotiegulations will permit our nightclubs
remain in operation or profitable in the future.

As discussed in the section entitled “Legal Prooegsd herein, we are subject to litigation regarding 8exually Oriented Business license
Houston, Texas. The Trial Court rendered its judgnie favor of the City of Houston on January 3@02. The Trial Court found that the C
of Houston met its burden that there were sufficedternate sites available to relocate all of élisting businesses in 1997. The Trial C
found the 1997 ordinance constitutional and enfainte Postrial motions were heard and the relief soughttagy sagainst enforcement, v
denied by the Trial Court. An appeal to the Fi@lrcuit Court of Appeals was timely filed. TheftkR Circuit granted a stay pendi
appeal. Oral argument was held before the Fiftou@i Court of Appeals on August 7, 2007. Thetri@tircuit Court of Appeals ruled in fa\
of the City of Houston in September, 2007. Plegslinave been filed seeking a stay against enfomteafiehe provisions of the ordinance v
the United States Supreme Court in conjunction Withrequest that the United States Supreme Ceartdn appeal of the Fifth Circuit Cc
of Appeals ruling. Neither relief nor any indiaati of the Supreme Coustposition on the appeal has been received to ddte.effect of an
potential adverse ruling on our operations in Honss unknown. An adverse ruling would affect &kgally oriented businesses in Houstol
that event, we would change our method of operatiorrequire our entertainers to wear latex anthbbottoms. While management belie
this potential change will not have a meaningfiéef on our operations, as the effect would belltsimilarly situated businesses, the effe
unknown. Approximately 23.7% of our club operat®névenues for the twelve months ended Septemhe&20BF were in Houston, Texas
is possible an adverse ruling may allow for addailoccompetition in the Houston market.

In Texas, beginning January 1, 2008, our clubs lpéllsubject to a new state law requiring a $5 sugehfor every club visitor. A lawsuit
been filed by the Texas Entertainment Associamngrganization to which we are a member, alletfiegfee amounts to be an unconstituti
tax. The tax could discourage certain potentiatamers from visiting our clubs. Management iswar@ of what impact, if any, the tax
implemented, will have on our Texas operations.

We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespansion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéure requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash fomt cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtlitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securitiee,percentage ownership of our theisting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstiia
you that additional financing will be available t@rms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equiityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyluia@ by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesw business operations

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclubtdftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Abilitiy Operate Profitably or Acqu
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these agitgys may have greater financial and managenesources than we do. Additionally,
industry is subject to unpredictable competitiventts and competition for general entertainmentadallThere can be no assurance that wi
be able to remain profitable in this competitivdustry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramdl #ar industry has been an extremely volatile $trgu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatrwlheonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainimehistry revenue increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnieshiistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecoisosensitivity are the trendy perso
preferences of the customers who frequent aduliregh We continuously monitor trends in our cugtantastes and entertainment prefere
so that, if necessary, we can make appropriategasamwhich will allow us to remain one of the premiedult cabarets. However,
significant decline in general corporate conditimmsuncertainties regarding future economic protpétat affect consumer spending c¢
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddlition, we have historically catered to a cliémtease from the upper end of the ma
Accordingly, further reductions in the amounts ofeztainment expenses allowed as deductions fraonie under the Internal Revenue C
of 1954, as amended, could adversely affect salesstomers dependent upon corporate expense dascoun
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Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesiirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. States in wivieloperate may have laws which may |
the availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beages or which may provide for suspension or retiogaf a permit to sell alcoholic bevera
in certain circumstances. The temporary or permiasiggpension or revocations of any such permitddvoave a material adverse effect on
revenues, financial condition and results of openst of the Company. In all states where we operatanagement believes we ar
compliance with applicable city, county, state threw local laws governing the sale of alcohol.

We Must Continue to Meet NASDAQ Global Market Continued ListiRgquirements or We Risk Delisting

Our securities are currently listed for trading the NASDAQ Global Market. We must continue to $gtiSASDAQ’s continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaalverse effect on our business. If our securitieseaer ddisted from NASDAQ, it ma
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mawg bess liquid market. In such case, our sharehgladility to trade or obtain quotations
the market value of shares of our common stock evdnel severely limited because of lower trading e and transaction delays. Tt
factors could contribute to lower prices and larggreads in the bid and ask prices for our seesriffhere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the NASDAQ continuestitig requirements.

In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€dsts as a Result of Operating as a Public ComgartyQOur Management Will Be Requi
to Devote Substantial ilhe to New Compliance Initiatives

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammnting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxlep{A2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Actds
well as new rules subsequently implemented by tR€,Shave imposed various new requirements on pwolnpanies, including requiri
changes in corporate governance practices. Ourgeament and other personnel will need to devotebatantial amount of time to these r
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agglitations will increase our legal and financiaingdiance costs and will make some activ
more timeeonsuming and costly. For example, we expect theserules and regulations to make it more diffi@ritd more expensive for us
obtain director and officer liability insurance,dawe may be required to incur substantial costedamtain the same or similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbané&3xley Act requires, among other things, that we ntzn effective internal controls for financial mting anc
disclosure controls and procedures. In particdammencing in fiscal 2008, we must perform systeich grocess evaluation and testing or
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahgieporting, as required by Section 404 of theb&aesOxley Act. Subsequently in fisc
2009, our independent registered public accourfiimg will report on the effectiveness of our intatrcontrols over financial reporting,
required by Section 404 of the Sarbafedey Act. Our testing, or the subsequent testip@lr independent registered public accounting,
may reveal deficiencies in our internal controlewoiinancial reporting that are deemed to be matavieaknesses. Our compliance \
Section 404 will require that we incur substanéietounting expense and expend significant managesfients. We currently do not have
internal audit group, and we will need to hire giddial accounting and financial staff with appreye public company experience and tech
accounting knowledge. Moreover, if we are not afolecomply with the requirements of Section 404 itiraely manner, or if we or o
independent registered public accounting firm idiexst deficiencies in our internal controls ovendncial reporting that are deemed tc
material weaknesses, the market price of our stockd decline, and we could be subject to sanctamisivestigations by the SEC or ot
regulatory authorities, which would require addiibfinancial and management resources.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adedaapersonal injury and property damage to whighbusiness of the Company ma;
subject. However, there can be no assurance tlegured liabilities in excess of the coverage pitedi by insurance, which liabilities may
imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusénglar "Dram Shop" statutes or common law thesiof liability in other states where
operate or expand. The Texas "Dram Shop" statudeiges a person injured by an intoxicated persanritfht to recover damages from
establishment that wrongfully served alcoholic bages to such person if it was apparent to theeseat the individual being sold, serve:
provided with an alcoholic beverage was obvioustgxicated to the extent that he presented a daager to himself and others. An emplc
is not liable for the actions of its employee wheeleserves if (i) the employer requires its employezsattend a seller training progr
approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee has adyualtended such a training program; and (iii) émployer has not directly or indirec
encouraged the employee to violate the law. luispwlicy to require that all servers of alcoholrking at our clubs be certified as servers u
a training program approved by the TABC, which ifiegtion gives statutory immunity to the sellefsadcohol from damage caused to tl
parties by those who have consumed alcoholic bgeerat such establishment pursuant to the Texashélic Beverage Code. There can b
assurance, however, that uninsured liabilities matyarise which could have a material adverse effathe Company.
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Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick’'s" and "Ricleb&et" are established under the common law bgsed our substantial and continuous
of these trademarks in interstate commerce sintzasat as early as 1987. "RICK'S AND STARS DESI@NY "RICK'S CABARET" logos a
registered through service mark registrations iddnethe United States Patent and Trademark Offie€O"). There can be no assurance
these steps taken by the Company to protect itsicgeMarks will be adequate to deter misappropriatf its protected intellectual prope
rights. Litigation may be necessary in the futwreptotect our rights from infringement, which mag ¢ostly and time consuming. The los
the intellectual property rights owned or claimgdus could have a material adverse affect on osinless.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in onmane series, to fix the number of shi
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigirid preferences of the shares constituting angsservithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock éyBitiard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of Common Stock.
example, such issuance could result in a classafrities outstanding that would have preferencéls respect to voting rights and divide!
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cdulgbn conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stock.
Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock couftalirage potential takeover attempts and couldyd&igrevent a change in control of
Company through merger, tender offer, proxy comesitherwise by making such attempts more diffitolachieve or more costly. There
no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stoeke are no agreements or understandings foisgiuance of Preferred Stock, and
Board of Directors has no present intention toedBteferred Stock.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends @ommon Shares in the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any divideodsour common stock and we do not anticipate pagimg dividends in the foresees
future. We expect that future earnings, if any] i used for working capital and to finance grawth

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress Cagk3®rice

The market price of our common stock could dedlisa result of sales of substantial amounts oEommon stock in the public market, or i
result of the perception that these sales couldirodo addition, these factors could make it moiféatilt for us to raise funds through futt
offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuatihe Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagm#icantly. This price may be influenced by mafagtors, including:

« our performance and prospects;

« the depth and liquidity of the market for our séioes;

» sales by selling shareholders of shares issuessoable in connction with the Debenture and/or Convertible N¢
* investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate

e changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatigmd by analysts;

¢ general financial and other market conditions;

» domestic eccnomic conditions

Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexme, extreme price and trading volume volatilifhese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities

Our Management Controls a Significant Pentage of Our Current Outstanding Common StocKTdmadr Interests May Conflict With Those
Our Shareholders

As of December 7, 2007, our Directors and executifieers and their respective affiliates colleetliy and beneficially owned approximat
17.33% of our outstanding common stock, includiignarrants exercisable within 60 days. This conaion of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectiffiliates substantial influence over any mattehich require a shareholder vote, incluc
without limitation, the election of Directors, evértheir interests may conflict with those of ottehareholders. It could also have the effe
delaying or preventing a change in control of drestvise discouraging a potential acquirer fromrafteéng to obtain control of us. This co
have a material adverse effect on the market priocgur common stock or prevent our shareholdemnfrealizing a premium over the tf
prevailing market prices for their shares of comratatk.
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We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large partetaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ouedfdent and Chief Executive Officer. |
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive krygandéaur industry. While Mr. Langan has no pregeans to leave or retire in the n
future, his loss could have a negative effect on aperating, marketing and financial performancevéd are unable to find an adeqt
replacement with similar knowledge and experiendhim our industry. We maintain keyan life insurance with respect to Mr. Lang
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agredni@s described herein), there can be no assuthat®r. Langan will continue to
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hawegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available To Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commartistmay elect all of our Directors. Managemerigrge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to aiaittieir positions as such and thus control oftusiness and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilitpyé Have Rights To Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Dwextand officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongtd@amages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and iissilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bésrDirectors or officers unless, in si
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleayrhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdersanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Doescand officers for breach of their d
of care, even though such an action, if successfigiht otherwise have benefited us and our stodérsl

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tantbé expenses in connection with
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent peechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvyisimns meant to facilitate the indemnit
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenorsg other things: (i) specification of the methotl determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independeninsel that will in some cases make such deternoinafii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinatiomsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlfi) establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisinghder the Securities Act may be permitted to ouedadors, officers and controlling pers:
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have labmsed that in the opinion of the Securities ardnange Commission, such indemnifica
is against public policy as expressed in the SaearAct and is therefore unenforceable.

GENERAL INFORMATION
We operate in two businesses in the adult entenkin industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubsirsgrgrimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghtaiubs offer live adu
entertainment, restaurant and bareogations. We own and operate nine adult nightcluizier the name "Rick's Cabaret" and "XTC
Houston, Austin, San Antonio, Texas, Minneapolishivdsota, and New York, New York, and a “ New Omnie&light”in Fort Worth
Texas. We also own and operate ther upscale venues that cater especially to urbafegsionals, businessmen and profess
athletes called “ Club Onyx” in Houston, Texas, &fthrlotte, North Carolina. We recently acquitdithotsie ' s”in Miami Garden:
Florida. Additionally, we also own and operatelab known as “ Encounters " in San Antonio, Texao sexual contact
permitted at any of our locatior
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2. We have extensive Internet activiti

a) We currently own two adult Internet membership Waiies at www.CoupleTouch.com amdvw.xxxpassword.com. W
acquire xxxpassword.com site content from wholese

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtyBigis.cThis site provides our customers with the oppoty to purchas
adult products and services in an auction forié. earn revenues by charging fees for each transactnducted on tl
automated site

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldicpfor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover cesrgnembership fees, indepen:
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Afisichines, valet parking and other products andicees. Our Internet revenues
derived from subscriptions to adult content Inteéwebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comroissiearned on the sale of products
services through Internet auction sites, and adhgvities. Our fiscal year end is September 30.

Beginning in fiscal 2002 and continuing througlcéis2007, we greatly reduced our usage of promatipricing for membership fees for «
adult entertainment web sites. This reduced owrmees from these web sites.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptions ffeat eertain reported amounts in the financiaktesteents and accompanying na
Estimates and assumptions are based on historiparience, forecasted future events and variousraBsumptions that we believe tc
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatessaungtions may vary under different assumptionsooditions. We evaluate our estimi
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadt®unting policies below are critical in the payal of our financial condition and resi
of operations.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable is primarily compriseccreidit card charges, which are generally convettedash in two to five days afte
purchase is made. The Company’s accounts recejvathier is comprised of employee advances and atisellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termsedigheement and based upon managesentluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdswadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvable will not be collected. The $70,000 due froaufius Entertainment as of Septembe
2007 and 2006 was collateralized by 3,000,000 shafeTaurus Entertainment (now known as "Bluestaalth, Inc.”). The Compal
foreclosed on the collateralized shares in Aug0$t62 As such, the Company presently owns the slarédas the ability to sell them in
open market. As of September 30, 2007, the valubeothares totals approximately $450,000. As theumt due has been fully collaterali
since the note receivable agreement was enterethar@dompany believes such collateral will fullfisfy such amount due, no allowance
been provided nor is deemed necessary as of Septe3@h 2007 and 2006. The Company intends to aehéelectibility either throug
repurchase of the shares by Bluestar Health, Inbyaelling the shares in the open market or prigate transaction. In December 2006,
Company foreclosed on a residential house due tBpagment of a note receivable from an unrelateditparty. The balance of the n
receivable was $ 55,175. In June 2007, the Comfameglosed on the account and note receivableéraggregate amount of approxima
$240,000. The net result of the transaction was tte Company wrote off the note and accountsthedelated deferred gain and recol
$53,000 in furniture and equipment in the forectesu

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, &mnpany merchandise. Inventories are carried alawer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firsfiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2007 an@ 200sist of common stock. Statement of Financiadinting Standards (“SFASNo.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgBiecurities requires certain investments be recorded awédire or amortized co
The appropriate classification of the investmentsniarketable equity is determined at the time atpase and revaluated at each balal
sheet date. As of September 30, 2007 and 2006 dahgpany’s marketable securities were classifiedvadlable-forsale, which are carried
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses requbats other comprehensive income within the stddens’ equity section of the accompany
consolidated balance sheets. The cost of marketahléy securities sold is determined on a spedifemtification basis. The fair value
marketable equity securities is based on quotedeh@rices. There has been a realized gain of 2Blahd $0 related to marketable secui
for the years ended September 30, 2007 and 20§6ectvely. Marketable securities held at Septen3Be2007 and 2006 have a cost bas
approximately $13,000.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Proxddior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasmsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yekrsniture, equipment and leasehold improvementg lestimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsbatiterments that extend the useful lives are dagggth Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumuamméciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditettén the accompanying consolidated statemenpefations of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. X&@odwill and Other In tangibles Assetahich addresses the accounting for goodwill afigi
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill emtangible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an an
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFASIMQ. effective October 1, 2001. The Companghnual evaluation was performed &
September 30, 2007, based on a projected discosasddflow method using a discount rate determlmedanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nhoflee Company determined that there is no goodwifjairment at September 30, 2007
that the goodwill related to the acquisition of Bgls Novelty, Inc. was impaired at September 30, 286 charged $79,841 against oper:
expenses. All of the Comparsygoodwill and intangible assets relate to the teigh segment. Definite lived intangible assetsar®rtized o
a straight-line basis over their estimated livadlyFamortized assets are written-off against aaglated amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohaliz beverages, food and merchandise and sergicé®e point-ofsale upon receipt
cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membersinipgccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No.41(Revenue Recognitiofy
deferring membership revenue and recognizing dwerestimated membership usage period. Managemi@miagss that the weighted aver
useful lives for memberships are 12 and 24 morgharinual and lifetime memberships, respectivehe Tompany does not track member
usage by type of membership, however it believesaHives are appropriate and conservative, basedamagement’ knowledge of its clie
base and membership usage at the clubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgrgthbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyiderot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteauetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emingd estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyngnsed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includeaperating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiatmethod in accordance with SFAS No. 1@&c ounting for Income Taxe®eferred ta
assets and liabilities are recognized for the futax consequences attributable to differencesdmtthe financial statement carrying amao
of existing assets and liabilities and their resipedax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabil#fesmeasured using enacted tax rates expec
apply to taxable income in the years in which thtesaporary differences are expected to be recoveresbttled. The effect on deferred
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rateé®gnized in income in the period that includes ¢mactment date. In addition, a value
allowance is established to reduce any deferrecasmet for which it is determined that it is makeely than not that some portion of

deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Stock Options

Effective October 1, 2006, the Company adopteddhevalue recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R5hare-Based Paymentsusing thi
modified prospective application method. Undes tinénsition method, compensation cost recognieedhe year ended September 30, 2
includes the applicable amounts of: (a) compensatioall stockbased payments granted prior to, but not yet veasedf October 1, 20
(based on the granfate fair value estimated in accordance with thgirtal provisions of SFAS No. 123 and previouslggented in pro forn
footnote disclosures), and (b) compensation costlfestock-based payments granted subsequenttb@cl, 2006 based on the grdate fai
value estimated in accordance with the new promsiof SFAS No. 123R. Results for periods priorGiotober 1, 2006, have not b
restated. The compensation cost recognized folydlae ended September 30, 2007 was $196,871, asult of implementing SFAS N
123R. There were 252,500 stock option exercisethtoyear ended September 30, 2007.
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The following presents pro forma net income andgterre data for the year ended September 30, 20b@& dair value accounting method |
been used to account for stock-based compensation:

Net income, as reporte $ 1,752,71
Less total stock-based employee compensation egpbrisrmined under the fair value based

method for all awards (611,408
Pro forma net incom $ 1,141,301

Earnings per shar

Basic - as reported $ 0.3¢
Diluted - as reporte: $ 0.3t
Basic- pro forma $ 0.2t
Diluted - pro forma $ 0.2

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Ng.A&®ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, atefpretation of FASB Statement |
109, Accounting for Income Taxes (FIN 48), to ceeatsingle model to address accounting for uncaytan tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies t
accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minmmecognition threshold a tax position is requitedneet before being recognized in
financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidamtelerecognition, measurement, classificatiorgrest and penalties, accounting in inte
periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is dffecfor fiscal years beginning after December 28)6. The Company will adopt FIN 48 a:
October 1, 2007, as required. The cumulative efééetdopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retainedr#ags and other accounts as applic:
The Company believes that the adoption of FIN 48wait have an effect on the Company's consolidéitehcial position, results of operatic
or cash flows.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2007 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, wecbasolidated total revenues of $32,013,940, coetpto consolidated total revenue:
$24,487,215 for the year ended September 30, 20B& was an increase of $7,526,725 or 30.74%. ifbeease in total revenues \
primarily due to revenues generated in our new<chuid increases in revenues from our existing cledgsecially from our New York locatic
Revenues from nightclub operations for same-looagEme-period increased by 11.80% and for Intdrasinesses decreased by 9.08%.

Our income before minority interest for the yeadesh September 30, 2007 was $2,863,501 compared, @377 for the year enc
September 30, 2006. The increase in income fromatipas was primarily due to the increase in reesnfuom our existing clubs and from
New York and Fort Worth locations. Our income fraightclub operations (excluding corporate overhesa $6,643,197 for the year en
September 30, 2007 compared with $5,321,937 foy¢lae ended September 30, 2006. Our income fromatpes for our Internet busines
(excluding corporate overhead) was $111,919 foydsr ended September 30, 2007 compared with $136¢5 the year ended Septembet
2006. Our income from operations for our nightchpgerations for the same-location-sapegiod increased by 55.38%. Our income for
Internet operations for the same-web-site-samegetécreased by 53.80%.

Our cost of goods sold for the year ended SepteBle2007 was 12.61% of total revenues compardd @1% of related revenues for the
ended September 30, 2006. The increase was duarpyitto the acquisitions of Rick’clubs which have higher cost of goods sold atetfrie
operations. Our cost of goods sold for the nightadperations for the year ended September 30, 2@3712.75% of our total revenues fi
club operations compared to 12.17% for the yeae@rBeptember 30, 2006. Cost of goods sold for danation-same-period decreasted
10.78% for the year ended September 30, 2007 cadpar 12.24% for the year ended September 30, 2086.continued our efforts
achieve reductions in cost of goods sold of thé aperations through improved inventory managem#fd. are continuing a program
improve margins from liquor and food sales and feedvice efficiency. Our cost of sales from ouretnet operations for the year en
September 30, 2007 was 6.63% compared to 4.10%aied revenues for the year ended September 86, 20
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Our payroll and related costs for the year endgute®eber 30, 2007 were $8,936,730 compared to $,668%¥or the year ended Septembe;

2006. The increase was primarily due to the in@eagayroll in our opening new clubs. Our payffoll our nightclub operations for same-

location-sameperiod increased by 2.17%. The increase was priynduie to increases in payroll in our clubs duéntreases in revenues. (
payroll for Internet operations increased by 6.899&. believe that our labor and management sta#fi$eare at appropriate levels.

Our other general and administrative expenseshiyear ended September 30, 2007 were $14,938di0@ared to $11,498,862 for the y
ended September 30, 2006. The increase was pryndard to the increase in taxes & permits, rentall€gprofessional, utilities, insurance, &
advertising & marketing expenses from opening neeations, from our existing clubs, and from our Néerk location as it had its second
year of operations. Other selling, general and athtnative expenses for sa-location-sameperiod for the nightclub operations increase
2.68%. The increase was primarily due to the irsgeia taxes & permits, rent, legal & professiondilities, insurance, and advertising
marketing expenses. Other selling, general andradirdtive expenses for Internet operations deedbhy 13.48%.

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenthe20®7 was $1,335,713 compared to $1,057,020hyear ended September 30, 2
The increase was primarily due to the increaseeibt éh relation to the purchase of new clubs. Weehiacreased our long term deb
$14,387,337 as of September 30, 2007 comparedotaod§13,920,733 as of September 30, 2006.

Our net income was $3,054,899 for the fiscal yeated September 30, 2007 compared to $1,752,714d.irndnease in our net income \
primarily a result of the factors discussed inpheagraphs above.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2007, we had a deficit in wagldapital of $1,030,472 compared to $2,264,104f &ptember 30, 2006. Because o
large volume of cash we handle, stringent cashrolsnhave been implemented. The decrease was filsindae to increases in cash and ¢
equivalents and accounts receivable, offset byesm®s in accrued expenses and current portiomgftéom debt. At September 30, 2007,
cash and cash equivalents were $2,998,758 compaf854,932 at September 30, 2006.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @07 2vas $1,438,158 compared to $1,001,513 for ¢a& gnded September 30, 2006.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 220v$158,492 compared to $47,734 for the perioeéeistptember 30, 2006.

The following table presents a summary of our dasks from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:

Years ended September .

2007 2006
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 4,383,12 $ 2,725,777
Net cash used in investing activiti (6,791,79) (3,110,841
Net cash provided by financing activiti 4,552,49! 759,67
Net increase in cash and cash equive $ 2,143,820 $ 374,60:

The increase in cash provided by operating aatwitvas primarily due to the increase in net incoiffee increase in cash used in inves
activities and cash provided by financing actiwtielates primarily to acquisitions of businesses.

We require capital principally for the acquisitiof new clubs, renovation of older clubs and invesita in technology. We may also uti
capital to repurchase our common stock as partiogbare repurchase program.

Debt Financing:

In January 2006, we paid off our borrowing with ¥®iMedia.

On February 6, 2006, we issued a Convertible Deiverfthe “Debenture™o an unrelated investment group for the princgah of $1,000,9¢
bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum, withaturity date of February 1, 2009. Under thengeof the Debenture, we are require
make three quarterly interest payments beginning Ma2006. Thereafter, we are required to make eopeal quarterly principal and inter
payments. At any time after 366 days from the détssuance of this Debenture, we have the righeteem the Debenture in whole or in
during the term of the Debenture. At the electibthe holder, the holder has the right at any timeonvert all or any portion of the principa
interest amount of the Debenture into shares oftoormon stock at a rate of $4.75 per share, wipghcximates the closing price of our st
on February 6, 2006. The proceeds of the Debemtascused to payoff certain debt and increase working capita.oA September 30, 20t
the holder had elected to convert $309,261 of jpaland $92,491 of interest into 84,579 sharegsiricted common stock. Subsequent ti
end of fiscal year, in November 2007, the holdectld to convert all remaining principal ($691,688) accrued interest ($21,448) to date
150,134 shares of the Company'’s restricted comrtamk s
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In March 2006, we paid off our borrowing from arrelated individual on the property in Brazoria Ctyun

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Debit Sagsj Inc., acquired 99% of the ownership intemrestn adult entertainment cabaret kn
as “Centerfolds’located at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TeAaslitionally, under the terms of the transactiony subsidiary, R(
Holdings, Inc. acquired 100% of the interest in ittin@roved real property upon which Centerfoldsoisated. The total purchase price for
business and real property was $2,900,000. Undestef the agreement, we paid the owners of thie ahd property $600,000 in cash at
time of closing and signed promissory notes forréraaining balance. In addition, certain memberthefcurrent ownership structure enter
five-year covenant not to compete with us.

On April 23, 2007, RCI Holdings, Inc., our whollyvaed subsidiary, entered into an Assignment of teatain Real Estate Sales Cont
between the owner of the property and W.K.C., foc.the purchase of the real property located &17Calmont, Fort Worth, Texas 76
where New Orleans Nights is located for a totakhase price of $2,500,000, which consisted of $i@Djn cash and $2,400,000 payable
six year promissory note to the sellers which adtrue interest at the rate of 7.25% for the fingt years, 8.25% for years three and four
9.25% thereafter. The promissory note is secused IDeed of Trust and Security Agreement. FurtR&€] Holdings, Inc. entered into
Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement viighsellers to assume the lease agreement for tdePReperty.

Subsequent to our fiscal year end, on October @7 2nve borrowed $1,000,000 from an investment ampunder terms of a 10% convert
debenture. Interest only is payable quarterlyluh& principal plus accrued interest is due inenegual quarterly payments beginnin
October 2008. The debenture is subject to optim@mption at any time after 366 days from the déissuance at 100% of the principal -
amount plus accrued interest. The debenture plysoatstanding convertible interest is convertibjethe holder into shares of our comr
stock at any time prior to the maturity date atebaversion price of $12 per share.

Financing from related parties:

On June 17, 2005, we borrowed $160,000 from a bb#ter at an annual interest rate of 12% over a3 jerm.

On July 22, 2005, we entered into a secured cobledebenture with a greater than 10% sharehddea principal sum of $660,000, wh
includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in the amou$160,000. The term is for three years and ther@st rate is 12% per annum. The debe
is convertible until August 1, 2008. The debentoratures on August 1, 2009 and bears interest ateaof 12% per annum. The debent
provide, absent shareholder approval, that the eumb shares of the Compasytommon stock that may be issued by the Compa
acquired by the holders upon conversion of the dielses shall not exceed 19.99% of the total nunolbésued and outstanding shares o
Companys common stock. We also issued 50,000 warrar$8.80 per share in relation to this debenture. déleenture is secured by
ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCI Holdings¢l, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries.

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible detbees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, fc
principal sum of $825,000. The debentures matundl 80, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 12%apeum. At the election of the holders,
holders have the right to convert (subject to éetienitations) until April 30, 2008, all or any pion of the principal amount of the debent
into shares of our common stock at a rate of $§&b share, which approximates the closing pricewf stock on April 28, 2006. T
debentures provide, absent shareholder approalthlke number of shares of our common stock that Ineaissued by us or acquired by
holders upon conversion of the debentures shaleroted 19.99% of the total number of issued anstanding shares of our common st
$600,000 of the debentures is secured by our prppmrated at 9009 Airport Blvd., Houston, TexabeTproceeds of the debentures were
for the acquisition of Joint Ventures, Inc.

On November 9, 2006, we entered into convertiblzedéures with three shareholders for a principal si$600,000. The term is for two ye
and the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieleof the holders, the holders have the rightdavert (subject to certain limitations) all
any portion of the principal amount of the debeesuinto shares of our common stock at a rate &$@er share, which was higher than
closing price of our stock on November 9, 2006. @iabentures provide, absent shareholder appriliiie number of shares of our comi
stock that may be issued by us or acquired by théehs upon conversion of the debentures shalleroted 19.99% of the total numbe
issued and outstanding shares of our common stdekproceeds of the debentures were used for tingsition of a 51% ownership interes
Playmates Gentlemen’s Club LLC.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primaniiythe form of operating leases and debt obligetiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate madsris well as future minimum rent payments:
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Operating
Lease Debt(1) Total
2008 $ 128091 $ 3,291,145 $ 4,572,06!
2009 1,235,11. 3,887,801 5,122,91.
2010 1,218,88: 886,58¢ 2,105,47.
2011 1,224,09: 1,371,91 2,596,00:
2012 1,196,10: 591,80( 1,787,90:
Thereafter 9,847,06! 4,358,07' 14,205,13

$ 16,002,16 $ 14,387,333 $ 30,389,50
(1) The interest obligation on debt is not included

We are not aware of any other event or trend ttaatldvpotentially affect liquidity. In the event $ue trend develops, we believe our worl
capital and capital expenditure requirements wélladolequately met by cash flows from operationguinopinion, working capital is not a ti
indicator of our financial status. Typically, busgses in our industry carry current liabilitieekcess of current assets because businesses
industry receive substantially immediate paymemtsi@aes, with nominal receivables, while inventsrand other current liabilities norme
carry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyd@esnoremain flexible with payment terms, providibgsinesses in our industry w
opportunities to adjust to short-term business déwvns. We consider the primary indicators of ficiah status to be the lortgrm trend c
revenue growth, the mix of sales revenues, oveaalh flow, profitability from operations and theédé¢of long-term debt.

The following table presents a summary of suchciadirs:

% %

Years ended September . 2007 increase 2006 increase 2005

Sales of alcoholic bevera $ 12,111,34 3792 $ 8,781,63 61.6¢ $ 5,431,04
Sales of food and merchand 3,185,49. 20.1¢ 2,651,86! 57.0¢ 1,688,04.
Service revenue 14,883,20 30.07 11,442,37 72.52 6,632,20.
Internet revenue 730,62¢ (8.89) 801,39! 1.74 787,61
Other 1,103,26: 36.21 809,94t 104.27 285,49
Total revenue $ 32,013,94 30.7¢ $ 24,487,21 65.1¢ $ 14,824,40
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 4,383,12 $ 2,725,777 $ 2,090,03
Net income (loss $ 3,054,89 $ 1,752,71 $ (215,149
Long-term debt $ 14,387,33 $ 13,920,73 $ 13,246,83

We have not established lines of credit or finagonther than the above mentioned notes payableoanexisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidinaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlhtshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 16, 2003, the Company was authorigéd board of directors to repurchase up to arital $500,000 worth of our comm
stock. No shares have been purchased under tinis pla

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impemnfinflation in our operations during the pastesal years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increasst$ through price increases and may continue sndblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasagbfs. Historically, we have experienced redu@amues from April through Septem

with the strongest operating results occurringmw®ctober through March. Our experience indictias there are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.
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GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can camito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new clubs after market analysis, ¢lgdquire existing clubs in locations that
consistent with our growth and income targets ahatlvappear receptive to the upscale club form@dave developed, as is the case wit
acquisition of the New York club and clubs in Co#e, South Houston, San Antonio, Austin and Miafo), to form joint ventures
partnerships to reduce stam-and operating costs, with us contributing eqintthe form of our brand name and management &gpefd) tc
develop new club concepts that are consistenteuittmanagement and marketing skills, and/or (ectjuire real estate in connection with «
operations, although some clubs may be in leasedipes and/or (f) to enter into licensing agreements iatsgic locations, as is the case
the license agreement with Rick’'s Buenos Aires &teil Anonima in Argentina .

During fiscal 2007, we acquired two existing nidhkbc operations for a total cost of $8,900,000. EBhasquisitions were funded prima
through indebtedness of $2,400,000, issuance ofresiricted common stock valued at $6,379,250, $6@D,000 in cash. Part of the fu
received from stock issuances will be used in ¢lsts and future acquisitions. These nightclub aiens had total revenues of approxime
$3,075,000 and net loss of approximately $245,00@i$cal 2007.

During fiscal 2006, we acquired three existing mifiib operations for a total cost of $3,865,000eS& acquisitions were funded prime
through indebtedness of $3,195,000, and $670,080.cBhese nightclub operations had total revendeapproximately $2,586,000 a
$370,000 and net loss of approximately $836,000%38D,000 for fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively.

During fiscal 2005, we acquired two existing nidhkbc operations for a total cost of $8,775,000. Bhasquisitions were funded prima
through indebtedness of $8,862,000, and issuaneairofestricted common stock valued at $675,000t &fathe indebtedness was used
renovation of the clubs. During fiscal 2006, $1,92® of the indebtedness was converted into 350s6@@es of our restricted common st
These nightclub operations had total revenues pfoimately $10,984,000, $7,400,000 and $1,100M@@ng fiscal 2007, 2006 and 20
respectively, and net income of approximately $3,6@0 and $635,000 during fiscal 2007 and 200 ee/ely and net loss of approximal
$983,000 during fiscal 2005.

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquine ngghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitimet fit our business model as we F
done in the past.

We plan to focus on high-margin Internet activitibat leverage our marketing skills while requiridow level of startip cost and ongoit
operating costs and refine and tune our Interries $or better positioning in organic search ragkiamongst the major search providers.
will restructure affiliate programs to provide héagtincentives to our current affiliates to bettesrpote our Internet sites, while actively see
new affiliates to send traffic to our Internet site

The acquisition of additional clubs will require tasobtain additional debt or issuance of our comrsimck, or both. There can be no assur
that we will be able to obtain additional financiog reasonable terms in the future, if at all, $thahie need arise. An inability to obtain s
additional financing could have an adverse effecbor growth strategy.

ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STAT EMEN TS
The information required by Item 7 is included histreport beginning on page 31.
ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGR EEME NTS WITH AC COUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes in or disagreementagdtuntants on accounting and financial disclasure

ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROC EDURE S

As of the end of the period of this report, oumpipal executive and principal financial officemgad out an evaluation of the effectivenes
the design and operation of our disclosure contesld procedures. This evaluation was carried ouleunhe supervision and with -
participation of our management, including our CHixecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. & on that evaluation, our Ct
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer comded that our disclosure controls and proceduresetiective in timely alerting them
material information required to be included in empanys periodic reports to the Securities and Exchangmr@ission. During the four
fiscal quarter, there were no changes in our imtlecontrol over financial reporting that have miiy affected, or are reasonably likely
materially affect our internal control over finaacreporting.
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ITEM 8B. OTHER IN FOR MATION
None.
PART I
ITEM 9. DIRECTORS, EX ECUT IVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS; COMPLI ANCE WITH

SECTION 16(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our Directors are elected annually and hold officdil the next annual meeting of our stockholdersuatil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are elected annually and sewéhe discretion of the Board of Directors. Thisr@o family relationship between or am
any of our directors and executive officers. OurBbof Directors consists of six persons. The feiig table sets forth our Directors ¢
executive officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langar 39 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presit
Phillip Marshall 58 Chief Financial Office

Travis Rees: 38 Director and V.F-Director of Technolog!

Robert L. Watter: 56 Director

Alan Bergstrorr 62 Director

Steven Jenkin 50 Director

Luke Lirot 51 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 andPresident since March 1999. He has been invalvelde adult entertainment busin
since 1989. From January 1997 through the predenhas held the position of President of XTC Cabdne. From November 1992 ur
January 1997, Mr. Langan was the President of BgtBieauties, Inc. Since 1989, Mr. Langan has esedcimanagerial control over more t
a dozen adult entertainment businesses. Througie thetivities, Mr. Langan has acquired the knowdedgd skills necessary to success
operate adult entertainment businesses.

Phillip Marshall was previously controller of Do@étxploration, Inc., an oil and gas exploration anoduction company, from February 2!
to May 2007. He previously served as Chief FinalnOifficer of CDT Systems, Inc., a publicly heldteatechnology company, from July 2(
to January 2007. In 1972, Mr. Marshall began hislio accounting career with the international asgng firm, KMG Main Hurdman. Afte
its merger with Peat Marwick, Mr. Marshall servesiam audit partner at KPMG for several years. rAlgaving KPMG, Mr. Marshall wi
partner in charge of the audit practice at Jacl&&hodes in Dallas from 1992 to 2003, where he isiezed in small publicly held companies.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been dracr since 1986. Mr. Watters was our Presideit aur Chief Executive Officer fra
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters loamed and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsmader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GalorBar & Grill, an adult club located
Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selectiegotiated the property purchase and oversawlébign and permitting for the club t
became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. MitéMapracticed law as a solicitor in London, Endland is qualified to practice law in N
York. Mr. Watters worked in the international tabogp of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Qmw succeeded by Deloitte & Touc
from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in the privaetise of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 to 1986en he became involved in our full-
time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbanSchool of Economics and Political Science, ¥rsity of London, in 1973 with
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 wiMaster of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law Sthéark University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Juf&. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddip@accountant with Pringle Jenkins
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikide is the President and owner of Pringle Jen&insssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.riléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Alan Bergstrom became our Director in 1999. Sing®871 Mr. Bergstrom has been the Chief Operatingc®ffof Eagle Securities, which is
investment consulting firm. Mr. Bergstrom is alsoegistered stockbroker with Rhodes Securities, Ffrom 1991 until 1997, Mr. Bergstr
was a Vice Presidentrvestments with Principal Financial Securities;.liMir. Bergstrom holds a B.B.A. Degree in Finant@67, from th
University of Texas.

Travis Reese became our Director and \Director of Technology in 1999. From 1997 throud®9, Mr. Reese had been a senior net
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa Rew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsajastems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasigent with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc. laernet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continendétlines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was aftpivith Hang On, Inc., an airlii
company. Mr. Reese has an Associate’'s Degree ian&etical Science from Texas State Technical Celleg
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Luke Lirot became a Director on July 31, 2007. Mrot received his law degree from the UniversifySan Francisco in 1986. After serv
as an intern in the San Francisco Public Defesd@ffice in 1986, Mr. Lirot returned to Florida aadtablished a private law practice wher
continues to practice and specializes in adultraaitenent issues. He is a past President of thet Bmendment LawyersAssociation and h
actively participated in numerous state and fedegdl matters. Mr. Lirot does not currently owrya&ecurities of the Company.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We have an Audit Committee of independent directdiese members are Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergst&teven Jenkins and Luke Lil
In May 2000, our Board of Directors adopted a Girafor the Audit Committee. The Charter establisttes independence of our AL
Committee and sets forth the scope of our Audit @dttee's duties. The purpose of our Audit Committet conduct continuing oversight
our financial affairs. Our Audit Committee conduets ongoing review of our financial reports andeotfinancial information prior to the
being filed with the Securities and Exchange Corsiuig or otherwise provided to the public. Our Audommittee also reviews our syste
methods and procedures of internal controls indteas of: financial reporting, audits, treasuryrapiens, corporate finance, manage
financial and SEC accounting, compliance with lawd ethical conduct. Our Audit Committee is objestiand reviews and assesses the
of our independent registered public accounting fir

All of our Audit Committee members are independeirectors. The Board of Directors elects the memlwdrour Audit Committee annual
The members serve until their successors are dedyeel and qualified. All members of the Audit Coitiee are free from any relationship 1
could conflict with member's independent judgméiitmembers are able to read and understand fundeainfinancial statements, includin
balance sheet, income statement, and cash flownstat. At least one member has past employmentrierpe in finance or accountit
requisite professional certification in accounting,other comparable experience or backgroundudhiety a current or past position as a ¢
executive or financial officer or other senior offi with financial oversight responsibilities. S¢éew.. Jenkins serves as Chairman of the /
Committee, having been elected by the members oAadit Committee. Steven L. Jenkins serves asAtindit Committee$ Financial Expel
having been elected by a unanimous vote of the reesndsf our Audit Committee. The Audit Committee @bawas previously filed as
exhibit to our Proxy Statement filed with the Séties and Exchange Commission on June 3, 2005,candbe found on our website
www.Ricks.com.

We have a Nominating Committee composed of indepetndirectors Robert L. Watters, Alan BergstronevBh L. Jenkins and Luke Lirot.
July 2004, the Board unanimously adopted a Chavitérregard to the process to be used for idemtgfydnd evaluating nominees for direc
The Charter establishes the independence of ouriddimg Committee and sets forth the scope of thenMating Committee's duties. 1
Nominating Committee Charter can be found on oursite aiwww.Ricks.com.

We have a Compensation Committee whose memberRabert Watters, Alan Bergstrom, Steven L. Jenkind huke Lirot. Decisior
concerning executive officer compensation for tisedl year ended September 30, 2007, were madadbompensation Committee. -
primary purpose of the Compensation Committee &vaduate and review the compensation of execufffieers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of418fjuires our directors and executive officersl parsons who own beneficially more t
ten percent of our common stock, to file report®whership and changes of ownership with the Seesirand Exchange Commission. Be
solely on the reports we have received and onewritepresentations from certain reporting persaespelieve that the directors, execu
officers, and greater than ten percent beneficiahers have complied with all applicable filing réguments during the fiscal year enc
September 30, 2007.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindip&icutive and Senior Financial Officers, which wasviously attached as Exhibit 14 to
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ending September2806.
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ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPE NSATION

The following table reflects all forms of compensatfor services to us for the fiscal years endegt@nber 30, 2007 and 2006 of cet
executive officers.

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Year Salary Bonus Stock Option Non-Equity Nonqualified All other Total
Principal Positior (%) (%) Awards Awards Incentive Plar Deferred compensatiol $)
%) %) Compensatio | Compensatio %)
%) Earnings
®)

CY (b) (© (d) (e) (f) @) (h) (i) 0
Eric S. Langan, 2007 400,01C 40,000 -0- 19,125(1) -0- -0- 10,115 469,25C
President/CEO 2006 395,30C -0- -0- 8,617 e -0- -0- 9,768 413,68%
Phillip Marshall, )

CFO 2007 50,481 -0- -0- 4,725 -0- -0- 1,212 56,418
Travis Reese, 2007 178,30¢ -0- -0- 23,90C & -0- -0- 5,274 207,482
VP/ Chief

Technology .

Officer 2006 167,201 -0- -0- 8,617( ’ -0- -0- 4,782 180,60C
1 Mr. Langan received 5,000 options to purchase shafreur common stock at an exercise price of $8giDirector compensatio
2 Mr. Langan received 5,000 options to purchase shafreur common stock at an exercise price of $&7Birector compensatic
3 Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase slo&@s common stock at an exercise price of $@gi@irector compensatio
4  Mr. Reese received 5,000 options to purchase sbéms common stock at an exercise price of $&§Birector compensatio
5. Mr. Marshall received 20,000 options to purchas#es$ of our common stock at an exercise price gfd58s compensatio

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
Name Number of Number of Equity Option Option Number Market Equity Equity
Securities Securities Incentive Exercise Expiration of Shares Value of Incentive Incentive
Underlying Underlying Plan Awards Price ($) Date or Units Shares or Plan Plan
Unexercised Unexercised Number of of Stock Units of Awards: Awards:
Options (#) Options (#) Securities that have Stock Number of Market or
Exercisable | Unexercisabl Underlying not that have Unearned Payout
Unexercised Vested not Vested Shares, Value of
Unearned #) %) Units or Unearned
Options Other Shares,
#) Rights that Units or
have not Other
Vested Rights
%) that have
not Vested
®)
@) (b) (© (d) (e) (e) @) (h) (i) 0
Eric S. Langan 5,000 0 0 1.40 9/10/08 0 0 0 0
75,000 0 0 2.20 2/6/09 0 0 0 0
5,000 0 0 2.54 9/14/09 0 0 0 0
200,00C 0 0 2.49 9/14/09 0 0 0 0
5,000 0 0 2.80 7/20/10 0 0 0 0
5,000 0 6.75 5/31/11 0 0 0 0
5,000 0 9.40 8/24/09 5,000 58,200 0 0
Phillip Marshall 0 20,000 0 9.40 8/24/12 20,000 232,80C 0 0
Travis Reese 5,000 0 0 2.54 9/14/09 0 0 0 0
50,000 0 0 2.49 9/14/09 0 0 0 0
5,000 0 0 2.80 7/20/10 0 0 0 0
5,000 0 6.75 5/31/11 0 0 0 0




5,000 0 9.40 8/24/09 5,000 58,200
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' fees,We pay the expenses of our directors in attendimard meetings. In August 2007,
issued 10,000 stock options to each Director whepnsember of our Audit Committee and 5,000 optitaneur other Directors. These opti
become exercisable on August 24, 2008, have agtrike of $9.40 per share and expire in AugusB200

Name Fees Earned or Stock Awards Option Awards Non-Equity Nonqualified All Other Total
Paid in Cash $) (%) Incentive Plan Deferred Compensation %)
$) Compensation Compensation $)
%) Earnings
($)
() (b) (c) (d) (e) () (9) (h)
Eric S. Langan -0- 0 | $ 19,375 -0- -0- 0 | $ 19,375
Travis Reese -0- 0 | s 24,150 -0- -0- 0 | s 24,15C
Robert Watters -0- 0- | $ 38,750 -0- -0- 0- | $ 38,75C
Alan Bergstrom -0- 0 | $ 38,750 -0- -0- 0 | % 38,75C
Steve Jenkins -0- 0- | $ 38,750® -0- -0- 0- | $ 38,75C
Luke Lirot -0- 0| $ 4,283© -0- -0- 0| $ 4,283
1 On August 24, 2007, Mr. Langan received 5,000 oytito purchase shares of our common stock at anisegrice of $9.40 ¢

Director compensation for the fiscal year endingt&mber 30, 2008; these options will vest on Au@4st2008. Mr. Langan received
5,000 options in fiscal 2003, 280,000 in fiscal 208,000 in fiscal 2005, and 5,000 in fiscal 20f@8,a total of 295,000 options
outstanding as of September 30, 2(

2 On August 24, 2007, Mr. Reese received 5,000 optiorpurchase shares of our common stock at agisgearice of $9.40 as
Director compensation for the fiscal year endingt8mber 30, 2008; these options will vest on Au@4st2008. Mr. Reese received
5,000 options in fiscal 2003, 55,000 in fiscal 208000 in fiscal 2005, and 5,000 in fiscal 20@8,d total of 75,000 options
outstanding as of September 30, 20

3 On August 24, 2007, Mr. Watters received 10,00@ogtto purchase shares of our common stock axentise price of $9.40 ¢
Director compensation for the fiscal year endingt8mber 30, 2008; these options will vest on Au@4st2008. Mr. Watters receiv
10,000 options for each of the fiscal years 200842 2005, 2006, and had 40,000 options outstaraetrg September 30, 200

4 On August 24, 2007, Mr. Bergstrom received 10,00tlons to purchase shares of our common stock ekarcise price of $9.40 .
Director compensation for the fiscal year endingt8mber 30, 2008; these options will vest on Au@4st2008. Mr. Bergstrom
received 10,000 options for fiscal years 2003, 2@005 and 2006 and had 20,000 options outstaradirgd September 30, 200

5 On August 24, 2007, Mr. Jenkins received 10,00@aptto purchase shares of our common stock axentise price of $9.40 ¢
Director compensation for the fiscal year endingt8mber 30, 2008; these options will vest on Au@4st2008. Mr. Jenkins receiv
10,000 options for fiscal years 2003, 2004, 2005 2006 and had 10,000 options outstanding as deS8dger 30, 2007

6 On August 24, 200, Mr. Lirot received 10,000 opsida purchase shares of our common stock at aciszqrice of $9.40 as Direct
compensation for the fiscal year ending Septembge2308; these options will vest on August 24, 2(

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a ongear employment agreement with Eric S. Langan {tlegan Agreement"). The Langan Agreement extehdsugh April 1
2008 and provides for an annual base salary of $000 The Langan Agreement also provides for gpeton in all benefit plans maintair
by us for salaried employees. The Langan Agreemamiains a confidentiality provision and an agreenty Mr. Langan not to compete w
us upon the expiration of the Langan Agreement.

We also entered into a two year Employment Agreemath Phillip K. Marshall to serve as CFO (the “Mhall Agreement”)The Marsha
Agreement extends through May 30, 2009, and previde an annual base salary of $175,000. Purswathe Marshall Agreement, N
Marshall is also eligible to participate in all ledih plans maintained by us for salaried employébsxler the terms of the Marshall Agreem
Mr. Marshall is bound to a confidentiality provisiand cannot compete with us upon the expiratich@Marshall Agreement.

We also have a threeear employment agreement with Travis Reese (tlee$R Agreement”). The Reese Agreement extendggtinifeebruar
1, 2010, and provides for an annual base salapl ®?,500. The Reese Agreement also provides feicipation in all benefit plans maintair
by us for salaried employees. The Reese Agreenmenains a confidentiality provision and an agreentgnMr. Reese not to compete witr
upon the expiration of the Reese Agreement.

We have not established long-term incentive plardefined benefit or actuarial plans.
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ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF C ERTA IN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain informatianDecember 7, 2007, with respect to the beneftialership of shares of Common Stocl
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficiallyrenthan 5% of the outstanding shares of Commook${@) each of our directors, (i
each of our executive officers and (iv) all of axecutive officers and directors as a group. Unteksrwise indicated, each stockholder
sole voting and investment power with respect ® ghares shown. As of December 7, 2007, there W&&1,850 shares of common st

outstanding.

Name/Address

Number of
shares

Title of class

Percent of Class

Eric S. Langan
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

1,194,86:™

Common stock

15.3%

Phillip K. Marshall
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

Common stock

0%

Robert L. Watters
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

45,00¢®

Common stock

0.6 %

Steven L. Jenkins
16815 Royal Crest Drive
Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

10,00¢®

Common stock

0.1%

Travis Reese
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

74,775

Common stock

1.0%

Alan Bergstrom
904 West Avenue, Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78701

24,70¢®

Common stock

0.3%

Luke Lirot
2240 Belleair Road, Suite 190
Clearwater, GL 33764

0

Common stock

0%

All of our Directors and Officers as a Group of ee\(7)
persons

1,349,34(®

Common stock

17.3%

E. S. Langan. L.P.
10959 Cutten Road
Houston, Texas 77066

578,63:™

Common stock

7.7%

JLF Asset Management/Jeff Feinberg
2775 Via D La Valle, Suite 204
Del Mar, CA 92014

993,47¢

Common stock

13.2%

Estate of Ralph McElroy
1211 Choquette
Austin, Texas, 78757

1,040,51¢"

Common stock

14 %

Burlingame Asset Management/Blair Sanford
One Market Street Suite 3750
San Francisco, CA 94105

464,757®

Common stock

6.2%

(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment pofeei321,233 shares that he owns directly. Mr. laanhas shared voting and investn
power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirectlguph E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan is the gengaainer of E. S. Langan, L.P. This amc
also includes options to purchase up to 295,0068:staf common stock that are presently exercisable.

(2) Includes options to purchase up to 40,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.

(3) Includes options to purchase up to 10,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.

(4) Includes options to purchase up to 65,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisi



(5) Includes options to purchase up to 20,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
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(6) Includes options to purchase up to 430,000ezhaf common stock that are presently exercisable.

(7) Includes 678,913 shares of common stock an@d0BOwarrants to purchase shares of common stotkatbgoresently exercisable at $:
per share. This number also includes shares ofcomrmon stock underlying two convertible debentuiesling $1,260,000 which ¢
convertible at prices of $3.00 ($660,000) and $§¥%&%0,000), subject to adjustment under certamditmns. The terms of both debentt
provide, absent shareholder approval, that the eurobshares of our common stock that may be issoest acquired by the Estate of |
McElroy upon conversion of any debenture shallexateed 19.99% of the total number of issued anstanding shares of our common stock.

(8) Includes 298,686 shares of common stock hel@inyingame Equity Investors, LP, 40,540 sharesafimon stock held by Burlingal
Equity Investors Il, LP, and 155,331 shares of camratock held by Burlingame Equity Investors (Offed) Ltd. Mr. Blair Sanford is tt
managing member of Burlingame Asset Management Witiich is the general partner of Burlingame Equiityestors, LP, Burlingame Equ
Investors Il, LP, and Burlingame Equity Investa®¥f6hore) Ltd.

(9) These percentages exclude treasury sharhe iratculation of percentage of class.
We are not aware of any arrangements that couldtiesa change of control.

The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of Reguta®eB is set forth in ITEM 5 herein.

ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRA NSAC TIONS

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thathusiness affairs will be conducted in all respdn standards applicable to publicly t
corporations and that we will not enter into anyufa transactions and/or loans between us and fficers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coeldltained from independent, third parties and @l approved by a majority of ¢
independent and disinterested directors. In oww védl of the transactions described below meet skdndard.

In May 2002, we loaned $100,000 to Eric Langan vwehour Chief Executive Officer. The promissory niteinsecured, bears interest at .
and is amortized over a period of ten years. ThHe nontains a provision that in the event Mr. Langgaves the Company for any reason
note immediately becomes due and payable in fhke Balance of the note was $60,943 at Septemb@0B0, and is included in other asse
our consolidated balance sheet. In November 200.7l.angan paid the note in full.

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertiledbebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% $iwdder, for the principal sum
$660,000. The debenture matures on August 1, a88%ears interest at a rate of 12% per annum.etihe terms of the Debenture, we v
required to make monthly interest payments begm&eptember 1, 2005. We have the right to redeenDébenture in whole or in part at
time during the term of the Debenture. The Estdt®lio McEIroy has the option to convert all or apgrtion of the principal amount of t
Debenture into shares of our common stock at ack$8.00 per share, subject to adjustment undeaioeconditions, until August 1, 200
The Debenture provides, absent shareholder apprinalthe number of shares of our common stockrttay be issued by us or acquirec
the Estate of Mr. McElroy upon conversion of thebBeture shall not exceed 19.99% of the total nurob&ssued and outstanding shares o
common stock. The Debenture is secured by cerfaguioassets. Additionally, we issued Mr. McElropnants to purchase 50,000 share
our common stock at an exercise price of $3.00share until July 22, 2008. The shares of CommogkStaderlying the principal amount
the Debenture and the Warrants had piggyback ratimt rights and became registered with the SEGeptember 1, 2005. Mr. McEl
passed away in June 2007 and his estate is cyrierder settlement.

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible detbees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, fc
principal sum of $825,000. The debentures matunél 809, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 12%apeum. At the election of the holders,
holders have the right to convert (subject to éetienitations) until April 30, 2008, all or any pion of the principal amount of the debent
into shares of our common stock at a rate of $§&b share, which approximates the closing pricewf stock on April 28, 2006. T
debentures provide, absent shareholder approwlthle number of shares of our common stock that Ineaissued by us or acquired by
holders upon conversion of the debentures shaleroted 19.99% of the total number of issued anstanding shares of our common st
The shares of Common Stock underlying the princgmabunt of the debentures had piggyback registratghts and were registered with
SEC in June 2006. The proceeds of the debentuneswged for the acquisition Joint Ventures, Inc.

On November 9, 2006, we entered into convertibleedures with three shareholders for a principal sfi$600,000. The term is for two ye
and the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieleof the holders, the holders have the rightdavert (subject to certain limitations) all
any portion of the principal amount of the debeesuinto shares of our common stock at a rate &$@er share, which was higher than
closing price of our stock on November 9, 2006. @hbentures provide, absent shareholder appithndlithe number of shares of our comi
stock that may be issued by us or acquired by théehs upon conversion of the debentures shalleroted 19.99% of the total numbe
issued and outstanding shares of our common stdekproceeds of the debentures were used for thesiiton of a 51% ownership interes
Playmates Gentlemen'’s Club LLC.
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ITEM 13. EX HIBIT S
Exhibit 21- Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Exhibit 31.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation requivgdRule 13at4(1) or Rule 15
- 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adapted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2 - Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Ric&’Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation requbgdRule 13at4(1) or Rule 15
- 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adapted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation purster8ection 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.

Exhibit 32.2 - Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Rick'Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation purstar8ection 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOU NTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fe@s jpr accrued for professional services rendesetVhitley Penn LLP for the audit of ¢

annual financial statements for fiscal year 200d@ fiscal year 2006 and the aggregate fees paid@uead for auditelated services and
other services rendered by Whitley Penn LLP fardigear 2007 and fiscal year 2006.

2007 2006
Audit fees $ 170,20¢ $ 97,76¢
Audit-related fee! 13,07( 16,21(
Tax fees 30,17( 3,85(
All other fees - -
Total $ 213,44¢ $ 117,82¢

The category of “Audit feesihcludes fees for our annual audit, quarterly rexgieand services rendered in connection with regoydilings
with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfortrietiad consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes enygle benefit plan audits, internal control reviewd accounting consultation.
The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.
All above audit services, audit-related services &@x services were papproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat the provisio

of such services by Whitley Penn LLP was compatitite the maintenance of that firmindependence in the conduct of its auditing fions
The Audit Committee’s outside auditor independepaiécy provides for pre-approval of all servicesfpemed by the outside auditors.
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SIGNA TURE S

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionfl¢d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant hasedtthis report to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine December 19, 2007.

Rick's Cabaret International, Ir

/sl Eric S. Langa
By: Eric S. Langat

Director, Principal and Chief Executive Officer i
Presiden

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aistréport has been signed below by the followiaspns in the capacities and on

the dates indicated:

Signature

/sl Eric S. Langan
Eric S. Langat

/s/Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall

/sl Travis Reese
Travis Reesi

/s/ Robert L. Watters
Robert L. Watter:

/sl Alan Bergstrom
Alan Bergstrorn

/sl Steven Jenkins
Steven Jenkins

/s/ Luke Lirot
Luke Lirot

Title Date

Director, Principal and Chief Executive Officer,daRresider December 19, 200
Chief Financial Office and Principal Accounting Office December 19, 200
Director and V.F-Director of Technolog! December 19, 200
Director December 20, 200
Director December 19, 200
Director December 19, 2007
Director December 20, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. as of September @07 2nd 2006, and tl
related consolidated statements of operations,ggsim stockholders’ equity, and cash flows forythars then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Compamgdaagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlogUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finastatements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrivdl control over financial reporting. /
audit includes consideration of internal controkéofinancial reporting as a basis for designingitguebcedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgssimopinion on the effectiveness of the Companiesnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An aullibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenppating the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@adlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Rick’s
Cabaret International, Inc. as of September 307201 2006, and the consolidated results of omeratind cash flows for the years then et
in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

/s Whitley Penn LLI
Dallas, Texas
December 19, 2007
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable
Trade
Other, ne
Marketable securitie
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Other asset:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible
Definite lived intangibles, ne
Other

Total other asse!

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

Deferred tax liability

Other lon¢-term liabilities
Long-term dek-related partie
Long-term debt

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Minority interest

Temporary equit- Common stock, subject to put rights (215,000 a8@,d00 shares, respective

Permanent stockholders' equi
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares aattthrnone outstandir
Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares auttihrz803,354 and 5,805,275 shares issued,
respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive inco
Retained earnings (accumulated defi

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in trgaaticos!
Total stockholders' equit

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated finasta#ééments.

September 30

2007 2006
$ 299875 $ 854,93.
557,29! 192,38!
218,74t 186,55«
33,36¢ 22,24¢
368,55 291,62
286,88. 140,42¢
4,463,60 1,688,16'
21,365,41 17,423,84
20,179,61 10,505,45
698,58 525,07¢
368,54« 460,33’
21,246,73 11,490,86
$ 47,075,76 $ 30,602,87
$ 493,49¢ $ 554,97¢
1,709,42 1,118,97.
3,291,15. 2,278,31!
5,494,07 3,952,26:
4,391,49! -
420,41} 299,70:
2,085,001 1,386,90!
9,011,18! 10,255,50
21,402,17 15,894,38
180,72¢ -
1,450,001 800,00(
69,03« 58,05
22,643,59 15,586,23
20,02: 8,89¢
2,603,98. (450,91)
25,336,63 15,202,26
1,293,78! 1,293,78!
24,042,85 13,908,48
$ 47,075,76 $ 30,602,87
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues
Sales of alcoholic beverag
Sales of food and merchand
Service revenue
Internet revenue
Other

Total revenue

Operating expense
Cost of goods sol
Salaries and wage¢
Stock-based compensatic

Other general and administrati\

Taxes and permit
Charge card fee

Rent

Legal and profession
Advertising and marketin

Depreciation and amortizatic

Insurance

Utilities

Other

Goodwill impairment

Total operating expens:
Income from operation

Other income (expense
Interest incom
Interest expens
Loss on sales of asst¢
Other

Income before minority intere

Minority interest

Income before income tax

Income taxes

Net income

Basic and diluted earnings per shs

Net income, basic

Net income, diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outsigr

Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasients.

Year Ended September 30
2007 2006

$ 12,111,34 $ 8,781,63!

3,185,49. 2,651,86!
14,883,20 11,442,37
730,62¢ 801,39!
1,103,26: 809,94

32,013,94 24,487,21

4,035,52. 2,915,31.
8,739,85! 7,081,66!
196,87 -
4,071,67 3,074,57
638,24 485,34:
1,494,00! 1,150,33!
1,124,85 865,11
1,325,36' 1,176,27
1,596,65! 1,049,24
785,51¢ 420,45(
800,36t 621,05!
3,101,31. 2,576,62
- 79,84

27,910,25 21,495,83

4,103,68 2,991,38,
58,39« 25,79¢
(1,335,71)  (1,057,02)
- (68,13/)

37,13 (170,64()
2,863,50. 1,721,37
427,84 31,33
3,291,34 1,752,71.
236,44 -

$ 305489 $ 1,752,71

$ 05¢ $ 0.3¢

$ 05 $ 0.3

5,700,54 4,640,49!

6,215,28! 5,065,96.
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Balance at September 30, 2(

Shares issue

Beneficial conversiol
Change in temporary equity -
common stock subject to pu

rights
Net income

Change in available-for-sale

securities

Comprehensive incon

Balance at September 30, 2006

Shares issue

Change in temporary equity -
common stock subject to pu

rights

Stock-based compensatic

Net income

Change in available-for-sale

securities

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 2007

Common Stock

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Years Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Treasury Stock

Accumulated Retained

Additional Other Earnings Total
Number of Paid-In Comprehensive  (Accumulated Number Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit) of Shares Amount Equity
5,040,67¢ $ 50,407 $ 12,331,36 $ 1557 $ (2,203,630 908,53( $ (1,293,78) $ 8,899,93
744,59 7,44¢ 3,326,211 - - - 3,333,65!
- - 53,85¢ - - - 53,85¢
20,00( 20C (125,200 - - - (125,000
- - - - 1,752,71. - 1,752,71.
- - - (6,679 - - 6,674
- - - - - - 1,746,041
5,805,27! 58,05: 15,586,23 8,89¢ (450,916 908,53( (1,293,78) 13,908,48
1,153,07! 11,53 7,509,94. - - - 7,521,47.
(55,000 (550) (649,45() - - - (650,000
- - 196,87: - - - 196,87:
- - - - 3,054,89! - 3,054,89!
- - - 11,12 - - 11,12:
- - - - - - 3,066,02.
6,903,35: $ 69,03 $ 22,64359 $ 20,027 $ 2,603,98: 908,53( $ (1,293,78) $ 24,042,85

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashkigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior
Amortization
Bad debt:
Goodwill impairment
Beneficial conversiol
Common stock issued for interest paynm
Amortization of note discour
Loss on sales of ass
Minority interests
Deferred ren
Deferred taxes (benefi
Stock compensation exper

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acqt
Proceeds from sale of ass
Purchases of property and equipm
Issuance of notes receival

Note receivable paymen

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common st
Proceeds from stock options exerci:
Proceeds from lor-term debt
Payments on lor-term debi
Payments on lir-of-credit

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatiol
Cash paid during the year for inter

See accompanying notes to consolidated finastaé&ments.
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Year Ended September 30

2007 2006
$ 3,054,890 $ 1,752,71
1,438,15: 1,001,51:
158,49: 47,73¢
26,77 -

- 79,84

17,95: 20,94
87,33 47,96:
35,55 35,55

- 68,13
(427,849 (31,33)
120,71! 106,05:
(200,365 -
196,87 -
(437,849 (27,229
(40,419 (3,777
(96,38¢) (155,919
449,22 (216,42
4,383,12 2,725,771
(5,572,24)  (1,497,64)
9,69t -
(1,210,13)  (1,641,73)
(35,000) -
15,89: 28,53
(6,791,79)  (3,110,84))
5,345,501 560,69
665,47 -
600,00 1,863,06!
(2,058,47)  (1,569,19)
- (94,88¢)
4,552,49' 759,67.
2,143,82| 374,60:
854,93: 480,33
$ 2099875 $ 854,93
$ 1,176,20. $ 1,04544
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Non-cash transactions:

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Caynparchased property located at 9009 Airport Bhdouston for $1,300,0C
payable with $500,000 cash at closing and 160,886€es of restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, ther sdltne New York club converted $1,925,000 of pijral from the related promissc
note into 350,000 shares of restricted common stock

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the hofda convertible debenture converted $47,96tdrest owed into 10,097 share
restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Caoynparchased a club in San Antonio for $2,900,@&3;able with $600,000 cask
closing and four promissory notes totaling $2,300,0

During the year ended September 30, 2007, ther dltbe New York club converted $75,000 of priradifrom the related promissory n
into 10,000 shares of restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, the Caoynparchased a 51% ownership interest of Playm@estlemens Club LLC fo
$1,533,750, payable with $500,000 cash at closimyl25,000 shares of restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, the Coynijoaeclosed on a residential house due to payment of a note receivable fromr
unrelated third party. The balance of the noteikable was $55,175.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, the Caynpaquired the property relating to its new clabFort Worth, Texas for $2
million, comprised of $100,000 in cash and a natgaple of $2.4 million.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, the Coynfmeeclosed on certain accounts and a note rabkvin the aggregate amoun
approximately $240,000. The net result of thedaation was that the Company wrote off the note aowbunts and the related defe
gain and recorded $53,000 in furniture and equigriretihe foreclosure.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, the hofde convertible debenture converted $401,75@rivicipal and interest into 84,5
shares of restricted common stock.

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007 and 2006
A. Nature of Business

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. (the “Companig)a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. Then@any currently owns and operz
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment,taesant, and bar operations. These nightclubscmated in Houston, Austin, San Antonio
Fort Worth, Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnas@harlotte, North Carolina, New York, New YorlgdaMiami Gardens, Florida. T
Company also owns and operates several adult aimi@ent Internet websites. The Company’s corparfitees are located in Houston, Texas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the Company’significant accounting policies consistently &ublin the preparation of the accompanying conatdid financie
statements follows:

Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidateahdial statements have been prepared using theahdmsis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted i thnited States of America.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. St intercompany accounts
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptionsfibetteertain reported amounts in the financiatesteents and accompanying notes. Ac
results could differ from these estimates and apsioms.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasgd to be cash equivalents.
September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company had toisuvestments. The Company maintains depositsvaraéfinancial institutions, whic
may at times exceed amounts covered by insurarméded by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Cattor (“FDIC”). At September 3
2007 and 2006, the uninsured portion of these dispapproximated $569,000 and $54,000, respectiviglg Company has not incurred
losses related to its cash on deposit with findricitutions.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable is primarily compriseccreidit card charges, which are generally convettedash in two to five days afte
purchase is made. The Company’s accounts recejvathier is comprised of employee advances and atisellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termseaigreement and based upon managesentiluation that the notes receivable and int
income will be collected. The Company recognizdsvadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvalk will not be collected. The $70,000 due froaufius Entertainment as of Septembe
2007 and 2006 was collateralized by 3,000,000 shafeTaurus Entertainment (now known as "Bluestaalth, Inc.”). The Compal
foreclosed on the collateralized shares in Aug08i62 As such, the Company presently owns the stard has the ability to sell them in
open market. As of September 30, 2007, the valubeokhares totals approximately $450,000. As theuat due has been fully collaterali.
since the note receivable agreement was enterethar@dompany believes such collateral will fullfisfy such amount due, no allowance
been provided nor is deemed necessary as of Septe3h 2007 and 2006. The Company intends to aehéelectibility either throug
repurchase of the shares by Bluestar Health, Inbyelling the shares in the open market or prizate transaction. In December 2006,
Company foreclosed on a residential house duerniepagment of a note receivable from an unrelated fharty. The
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued

balance of the note receivable was $55,175. e 2007, the Company foreclosed on the account atedreceivable in the aggregate am
of approximately $240,000. The net result of amsaction was that the Company wrote off the aatkaccounts and the related deferred
and recorded $53,000 in furniture and equipmetténforeclosure.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2007 ané 208sist of common stock. Statement of Financiedointing Standards (“SFASNo.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgSecuriti es requires certain investments be recorded avédire or amortized co
The appropriate classification of the investmentsniarketable equity is determined at the time atpase and revaluated at each balal
sheet date. As of September 30, 2007 and 2006 ahgpany’s marketable securities were classifiedvaslable-forsale, which are carried
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses requbats other comprehensive income within the stddens’ equity section of the accompany
consolidated balance sheets. The cost of marketpléy securities sold is determined on a spedifentification basis. The fair value
marketable equity securities is based on quoteden@rices. There have been no realized gainsssebrelated to marketable securities fo
years ended September 30, 2007 or 2006. Marketsaerities held at September 30, 2007 and 200& havost basis of approximat
$13,000.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @wipany merchandise. Inventories are carried alawer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Proxddior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeBrgniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsbatirments that extend the useful lives are daggth Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditettén the accompanying consolidated statemenpefations of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. @8odwill and Other Intangibles Assetwhich addresses the accounting for goodwill atingti
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill emta@ingible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an an
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFASIMQ. effective October 1, 2001. The Companghnual evaluation was performed &
September 30, 2007, based on a projected discoeattdflow method using a discount rate determlmechanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nhodlke Company determined that there is no impaitnfier the year ended September
2007 and the goodwill related to the acquisitioBobby’s Novelty, Inc. was impaired and charged $79,84diresfj operating expenses dul
the year ended September 30, 2006. All of the Caoryigagoodwill and intangible assets relate to the taigh segment. Definite live
intangible assets are amortized on a straightiiasis over their estimated lives. Fully amortizedess are writteoff against accumulat
amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and sergicé®e point-ofsale upon receipt
cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membersinipgccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No.41(Revenue Recognitiofy
deferring and recognizing over the estimated mesiijyerusage period. Management estimates that thghted average useful lives
memberships are 12 and 24 months for annual agtiiié memberships, respectively. The Company doesrack membership usage by t
of membership, however it believes these livesappropriate and conservative, based on managesnkmtwledge of its client base ¢
membership usage at the clubs.
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The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mygrgthbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyideeot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteauetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emingd estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyngnsed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includeaperating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 1@&counting for Income Taxe®eferred ta
assets and liabilities are recognized for the futax consequences attributable to differencesdmtthe financial statemecarrying amoun
of existing assets and liabilities and their resipedax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabil#fesmeasured using enacted tax rates expec
apply to taxable income in the years in which thtesaporary differences are expected to be recoveresbttled. The effect on deferred
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate®é®gnized in income in the period that includes ¢mactment date. In addition, a value
allowance is established to reduce any deferrecasmet for which it is determined that it is makeely than not that some portion of

deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income in acoosdavith the provisions of SFAS No. 13Bgporting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income anisgéisses) on available-fegale marketable securities and is presented inghsolidate
statements of changes in stockholders’ equity.

Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdeith SFAS No. 12&arnings Per Share SFAS No. 128 provides for the calcula
of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basidmgsrper share includes no dilution and is compubtedividing income available to comrr
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted em®iper share reflect the poter
dilution of securities that could share in the @aga of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of sharésthy arise from outstanding dilutive common stogitions and warrants (the nhumbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock methaaiitl from outstanding convertible debentures (thrabrar of which is computed using
“if converted method”). Diluted EPS considers thatgmtial dilution that could occur if the Compasyoutstanding common stock optic
warrants and convertible debentures were conventedcommon stock that then shared in the Commaegrnings (as adjusted for inte
expense, that would no longer occur if the debestwere converted).
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Net earnings applicable to common stock and theghted - average number of shares used for basic and dileéedings per she
computations are summarized in the table thatviallo

2007 2006

Basic earnings per shai

Net earnings applicable to common stockholt $ 3,054,890 $ 1,752,71.

Average number of common shares outstanding 5,700,54 4,640,49'

Basic earnings per share $ 05/ $ 0.3¢
Diluted earnings per shat

Net earnings applicable to common stockhol $ 3,05489 $ 1,752,71.

Adj. to net earnings from assumed conversion otdalres (1) 79,20( -

Adj. net earnings for diluted EPS computat $ 3,134,090 $ 1,752,71.
Average number of common shares outstanc

Common shares outstandi 5,700,54: 4,640,49!

Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercisavarrants and options (. 294,73 425,46:

Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversibiebentures (3) 220,00( -

Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 6,215,28! 5,065,96.

Diluted earnings per share $ 05C $ 0.3

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive caierdebentures, that would not occur if they wassumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options were coesed for the EPS computation.

(3) Convertible debentures (principal and accruedrest) outstanding at September 30, 2007 and gfi@bng $2,788,217 and $2,502,€
respectively, were convertible into common stoch atice of $3.00 and $7.50 per share in 2007 dntb$%and $6.55 per share in 2006. 220
were dilutive in 2007, but none were dilutive ir0B0(based on average balances outstanding).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In accordance with the reporting requirements oASHNo. 107,Di sclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instrume, the Compar
calculates the fair value of its assets and liaddiwhich qualify as financial instruments undeiststatement and includes this additi
information in the notes to consolidated financiéhtements when the fair value is different thaa tarrying value of these financ
instruments. The estimated fair value of accouatgivable, accounts payable and accrued liabiltgsoximate their carrying amounts du
the relatively short maturity of these instrumentie carrying value of short and loterm debt also approximates fair value since
instruments bear market rates of interest. Nortbexe instruments are held for trading purposes.

Stock Options

At September 30, 2007, the Company has stock optmristanding, which are described more fully inteNbl. The Company forme
accounted for its stock options under the recogmitind measurement principles of Accounting PriesiBoard (“APB”)Opinion No. 2t
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees)d related Interpretations. Effective October @Q0& the Company adopted the fair vi
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123Bhare-Based Paymentaising the modified prospective application methtlhder this transitic
method, compensation cost recognized for the yeded September 30, 2007, includes the applicabteiata of: (a) compensation of all stock-
based payments granted prior to, but not yet vessedf October 1, 2006 (based on the gdaté fair value estimated in accordance witt
original provisions of SFAS No. 123 and previoughgsented in pro forma footnote disclosures), #dgdmpensation cost for all stoblase:
payments granted subsequent to October 1, 2006l lmasthe grantiate fair value estimated in accordance with the peovisions of SFA
No. 123R. Results for periods prior to Octobe2d06, have not been restated. The compensatiomezmgynized for the year ended Septer
30, 2007 was $196,871, as a result of implemer8iRgS No. 123R. There were 252,500 stock optiomaeses for the year ended Septen
30, 2007.
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The following presents pro forma net income andgtere data as if a fair value accounting methatlfegen used to account for stdukse
compensation for the year ended September 30, 2006:

Net income, as reporte $ 1,752,71.
Less total stoc-based employee compensation expense determined thiedair value based method for all awa (611,409
Pro forma net income $ 1,141,30

Earnings per shar

Basic- as reportel $ 0.3¢
Diluted - as reported $ 0.3t
Basic- pro forma $ 0.2F
Diluted - pro forma $ 0.2¢

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation Ng.A&ounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, ateflpretation of FASB Statement |
109, Accounting for Income Taxes (FIN 48), to ceeatsingle model to address accounting for unceytén tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies t
accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimmecognition threshold a tax position is requitedneet before being recognized in
financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidamt&erecognition, measurement, classificatiorgregt and penalties, accounting in inte
periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is dffecfor fiscal years beginning after December 2806. The Company will adopt FIN 48 a:
October 1, 2007, as required. The cumulative efféetdopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retainedrdiags and other accounts as applici
The Company believes that the adoption of FIN 4Bmwait have an affect on the Company's consolidéitethcial position, results of operatic
or cash flows.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform to the current year presentation.
D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the follow

September 30
2007 2006
Buildings and lant $ 15,27524 $ 12,833,13
Leasehold improvemen 5,974,18. 4,704,24!
Furniture 1,404,25! 1,204,75
Equipment 4,365,93 2,916,68!
Total property and equipme 27,019,61 21,658,82
Less accumulated depreciati 5,654,20: 4,234,98
Property and equipment, r $ 21,36541 $ 17,423,84

For the years ended September 30, 2007 and 20®&dmpany capitalized approximately $0 and $5,d060terest to property and equipm
in leasehold improvements, respectively.
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Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thinfahg:

September 30
2007 2006

Indefinite useful lives

Goodwill $ 7,280,170 $ 2,774,74

Licenses 12,899,43 7,730,711

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives

Discounted lease 18 & 6 years 146,56¢ 146,56¢

Non-compete agreemer 5 years 772,00( 440,00(

Less accumulated amortizati (219,98 (61,499

Total goodwill and intangible asse $ 20,878,19 $ 11,030,52

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization atebeiper 30, 2007 for each of the years ir
five-year period ending September 30, 2012 andetiftar is 2008 - $244,745, 2009 - $153,078, 20$238,078, 2011 - $114,245, 2012 -
$20,972, and thereafter - $27,464.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assetsnpairrily consist of sexually oriented business liemns New York, North Carolina, and F
Worth, Texas, which were obtained as part of thgusitions. These licenses are the result of zowirinances, thus are valid indefinitt
subject to filing annual renewal applications, whiare done at minimal costs to the Company. As d¢lsts are expected to contir
indefinitely, in accordance with SFAS No. 142podwill and Other Intangible Assetghe licenses are determined to have indefinitful
lives. The discounted cash flow method of incomgraach was used in calculating the value of thiesm$es in a business combination.

43




Table of Content

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

F. Long-term Debt

Notes payable at 9%, mature February 2
Notes payable at 12%, paid off in 2C
Notes payable at 11%, mature August 2

Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014 ancGdaf015
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012, colliterhby assets of RCI Entertainme
North Carolina, Inc

Note payable at 7.5%, matures August 2
Note payable at 12%, matures March 2

Note payable at 12%, matures February Z

Convertible note payable to related party at 12%tumes August 2009, collateralized by
shares of Citation Land LLC and RCI Holdings, |

Convertible note payable at 4%, matures May 20&ateralized by assets of R
Entertainment New York, Int

Convertible notes payable to related parties at,I#&ture April 200¢
Convertible note payable at 10%, converted to comstock in November 2007, unsecu
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2

Note payable at 4.9%, matures December 2010, eddliged by equipmet
Note payable at 7.25%, matures May 2!
Notes payable to related parties at 12%, maturesidner 200¢

Note payable at 8.99%, matures October 2007, eodlized by a vehicl
Total debi

Less current portio

Total long-term debt

* Collateralized by real esta

44

* % * X

September 30

2007 2006
$ 183977, $ 1,941,91
- 139,15
1,168,70: 1,256,58!
2,759,71. 2,816,66!
251,15t 290,91!
1,187,30. 1,604,88
= 400,00(
- 200,00(
615,41: 561,90¢
1,727,66! 2,444,28.
825,00( 825,00(
691,68 1,000,95!
377,62 396,47¢
23,35¢ 29,82¢
2,319,941 -
600,00( -
= 12,16:
14,387,33 13,920,73
3,291,15. 2,278,31!
$ 11,096,18 $ 11,642,41
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On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcoomvertible debenture with a greater than 10%edtwdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture is convertible into 220 §l6dres of the Comparsycommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limita®)n The term is for three years and interest ratati12% per annum. The debentur
convertible until August 1, 2008. The debenturgures on August 1, 2009 and bears interest ateaaiafl2% per annum. The debent
provide, absent shareholder approval, that the eurob shares of the Compasytommon stock that may be issued by the Compa
acquired by the holders upon conversion of the dielses shall not exceed 19.99% of the total nunolbésued and outstanding shares o
Companys common stock. The Company also issued 50,0Gkiable warrants at $3.00 per share in relatighisodebenture. The warra
are exercisable at any time within the period beigip on July 22, 2005 and expiring on July 22, 200Be value of the discount on n
payable was estimated to be $106,656 at the daraof using a Black-Scholes option-pricing modehwhe following assumptions:

Volatility 138%
Expected life 3 years
Expected dividend yiel -

Risk free rate 4.31%

For the years ended September 30, 2007 and 2@ €,dmpany recorded $35,552 of interest expenseyesmrhThe debenture is secured by
Company’s ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RGIlI#ings, Inc., both are wholly owned subsidiariéthe Company.

The Company has accounted for this transactionruBdeerging Issues task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.20QApplication of Issue No. 98-c
Certain Convertible InstrumentsThe value of the embedded beneficial conversegaiuire on the note payable was estimated to b8%5
which was calculated using the EITF Issue No59&edel. For the years ended September 30, 2002@0@ the Company recorded $17,
and $20,944, respectively, of interest expenséael the value of the embedded beneficial comwerfgature.

As a part of the purchase the New York club, thenfany obtained a $5.125 million promissory noteringasimple interest at the rate of 4.
per annum with a balloon payment at the end of ywars. $2,000,000 of the principal amount of tt@rpssory note is convertible into she
of restricted common stock at prices ranging froft08 to $7.50 per share. For the years ended 1@bpte30, 2007 and 2006, $75,000
$1,925,000 of principal was converted into 10,000 850,000 shares of the Company'’s restricted camstack, respectively.

On February 6, 2006, the Company issued a Conleilibbenture (the “Debenturefd an unrelated investment group for the princiah o
$1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 10%ameium, with a maturity date of February 1, 2009déinthe terms of the Debenture,
Company is required to make three quarterly intguagments beginning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, tben@any is required to make nine et
quarterly principal and interest payments. At anyetafter 366 days from the date of issuance af Erébenture, the Company has the rig
redeem the Debenture in whole or in part duringtéme of the Debenture. At the election of the koldhe holder has the right at any tim
convert all or any portion of the principal or iréet amount of the Debenture into shares of theg@oryis common stock at a rate of $4.75
share, which approximates the closing price ofGbenpany’s stock on February 6, 2006. The proceétisedDebenture were used tpay off
certain debt and increase working capital. Durlmg years ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, tterhwd elected to convert $401,752
$47,961 of principal and interest into 84,579 a7 shares of the Compasyestricted common stock, respectively. Subsedoeine en
of fiscal year, in November 2007, the holder elddie convert all remaining principal ($691,689) atrued interest ($21,448) to date
150,134 shares of the Company'’s restricted comrtamk s

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbkrtdebentures with three shareholders, one oflwisi a greater than 10% shareholdel
a principal sum of $825,000. The debentures maiprd 30, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 12%agnnum. At the election of the hold
the holders have the right to convert (subjectddain limitations) until April 30, 2008, all or wrportion of the principal amount of t
debentures into shares of the Company’s commork stbe rate of $6.55 per share, which approxim#tedclosing price of the Compansy’
stock on April 28, 2006. The debentures provideeab shareholder approval, that the number of shafréhe Compang’ common stock th
may be issued by the Company or acquired by theéeh®lupon conversion of the debentures shall noceezk 19.99% of the total numbe!
issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s constock. $600,000 of the debentures is securetthddyCompanys property located
9009 Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas. The proceedthefdebentures were used for the acquisition iot 3entures, Inc.
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On August 24, 2006, as part of the purchase ofila itl San Antonio, Texas (formerly known as “Cefutieis”), the Company obtained thi
promissory notes: a $400,000 note bearing simpkrést at the rate of 12% per annum and maturingciMa007, a $200,000 note bea
interest at the rate of 12% per annum maturing k&pr2007, and a $1,700,000 note bearing intetebeaate of 7.5% with a balloon paym
at end of five years. These notes payable are sgdyrthe real estate.

On November 9, 2006, we entered into convertibleedéures with three shareholders for a principal sti$600,000. The term is for two ye
and the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieleof the holders, the holders have the rightdavert (subject to certain limitations) all
any portion of the principal amount of the debeasuinto shares of our common stock at a rate &0b@er share, which was higher than
closing price of our stock on November 9, 2006. @iabentures provide, absent shareholder apprilitie number of shares of our comi
stock that may be issued by us or acquired by théehs upon conversion of the debentures shalleroted 19.99% of the total numbe
issued and outstanding shares of our common stdekproceeds of the debentures were used for thésition of a 51% ownership interes
Playmates Gentlemen’s Club LLC.

On April 23, 2007, RCI Holdings, Inc., our whollyvaed subsidiary ("RCI"), entered into an assignnwdrd certain real estate sales con
between the owner of the property and W.K.C., facthe purchase of the real property located &tl7Galmont, Fort Worth, Texas 76116 1
"Real Property") where New Orleans Nights is lodater a total purchase price of $2,500,000, whiohnsisted of $100,000 in cash
$2,400,000 payable in a six year promissory notiliéasellers which will accrue interest at the 1@it&.25% for the first two years, 8.25%
years three and four and 9.25% thereafter (the miiRsory Note"). The Promissory Note is securedabyleed of trust and secu
agreement. Further, RCI entered into an assignam@htassumption of lease agreement with selleastame the lease agreement for the
Property.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of filiowing:

2008 $ 3,291,15
2009 3,887,801
2010 886,58¢
2011 1,371,91
2012 591,80(

Thereaftel 4,358,07!

Total maturities of long-term debt $ 14,387,33

G. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing for the years ended September 30, 2007 806:2

2007 2006
Current $ 436,81( $ -
Deferred (200,369 -
Total income tax expen: $ 236,44t $ -

Income tax expense for the years presented differa the “expectedfederal income tax expense computed by applyingul& feder:
statutory rate of 34% to earnings before incomegdwr the years ended September 30, as a reshk édllowing:

2007 2006
Computed expected tax expel $ 1,119,05 $ 595,92!
State income taxe 32,91 52,58:
Stock option disqualifying dispositions and othermanent difference (584,51¢) -
Net operating loss carryforwa (286,839) -
Change in deferred tax valuation allowance (44,170 (648,50/)
Total income tax expen: $ 236,44t $ -
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€teemporary differences between the carrying amewftassets and liabilities for financ

reporting purposes and the amounts used for incaxepurposes. The significant components of then@anys deferred tax assets
liabilities at September 30 are as follows:

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets (liabilities
Bad debts allowanc $ 93,56( $ 45,31
Goodwill and indefinite lived intagible (5,019,81) (329,71)
Property and equipme 481,17 (243,22()
Net operating losse 154,67¢ 549,39(
Unrealized gain on marketable securi (7,009 (3,299
Other 139,36! 180,37:
Valuation allowanct (154,679 (198,849
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,312,72) $ -
The net deferred tax liabilities are recorded mlalance sheet as follows:
2007 2006
Current assef $ 78,77: $ =
Long-term liabilities (4,391,49) -
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (4,312,72) $ -

The Company established a valuation allowance ltg faserve the deferred tax assets at Septemhe2@b due to the uncertainty of
timing and amounts of future taxable income. Att8mper 30, 2007, the Company had net operatingciasgforwards related to subsidial
not included in the Comparg/'consolidated income tax return of approximatel25000, which expire in 2027 and have been fidserve
with a valuation allowance due to uncertainty @& timing and amounts of future taxable income of flubsidiary.

During the 2007 fiscal year, the Company realizedl tcertain deferred tax liabilities needed to beognized relating to prior busin
acquisitions and recorded these in the Septembel2@®7 balance sheet. The offset to the deferaadligbilities was to goodwill. Tt
recognition of these balance sheet items had metedih income tax expense for any period.

H. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftilam (the “1995 Plan”jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an)
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Blé&dllectively, “the Plans”)The options granted under the Plans may be eitlo@ntive
stock options, or nogualified options. The Plans are administered leyBbard of Directors or by a compensation committethe Board ¢
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugioever to select individuals to receive grantsstablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grargbdll be granted at an exercise price equal feast 85% of the fair market value of
common stock covered by the option on the grarg datl to make all determinations necessary or adlésinder the Plans.
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Following is a summary of options for the yearsesh&eptember 30:

Weighted Aggregate

Weighted Average Intrinsic
Average Remaining Value at
Exercise Contractual September
Price Term 30, 2007

Outstanding at October 1, 20 878,00 $ 2.47

Granted 40,00( 6.7t

Forfeited - -

Exercised (190,500 2.5

Outstanding at September 30, 2( 727,50 $ 2.7C

Granted 70,00( 9.4(

Forfeited - -

Exercised (252,500 2.5¢ $ 1,551,23

Outstanding at September 30, 2( 545,000 $ 3.61 212 $ 4,374,45

Exercisable at September 30, 2( 475,000 $ 2.7¢€ 2.0 $ 4,217,65

As of September 30, 2007, the range of exercigepifior outstanding options was $1.40 -$9.40.

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25 addtee interpretations in accounting for its empktock options until October 1, 20
because the alternative fair value accounting plexvifor under SFAS No. 12Bccounting for Stock Based Compensatioequires the use
option valuation models that were not developedif® in valuing employee stock options. See fdetBofor related disclosures. As explai

in Note B, in December 2004, the FASB issued SFAST23R,Share-Based Payment which is a revision of SFAS No. 128¢counting fol
Stock-Based Compensati@nd supersedes APB Opinion Zgcounting for Stock Issued to Employe&8&AS No. 123R focuses primarily
share-based payments for employee services, reguinese payments to be recorded using a fair-uzdsed method. The use of APB 25’
intrinsic value method of accounting for employéeck options has been eliminated. As a result,féirevalue of stock options granted
employees in the future will be required to be ewgeel. The impact on the results of operations efGompany will be dependent on
number of options granted and the fair value o§éhoptions. For the Company, SFAS No. 123R becdimetige beginning October 1, 2006.

In August 2007, we issued 10,000 stock optionsawheDirector who is a member of our Audit Committesl 5,000 options to our otl
Directors. These options (50,000 in total) becoxera@sable on August 24, 2008, have a strike pofc§9.40 per share and expire in Au¢
2009. On the same date, an officer received 20@#tbns to purchase shares of our common stoclnaexercise price of $9.40
compensation. The stock options, which expire amgust 24, 2012, vest over the next two years wilk0d0 stock options becomi
exercisable on August 24, 2008 and 10,000 stodkmpbecoming exercisable on August 24, 2009.

The stock options above resulted in stock compensaf $219,170 and will be expensed as follow$8,825, $157,077 and $44,068 for
fiscal years ending September 30, 2007, 2008 af@,2@spectively. Total unamortized stock compenosaexpense at September 30, Z
was $201,145.

The fair value of options were estimated at the additgrant using a Black-Scholes optipricing model using the following weighted aver
assumptions:

2007 2006
Volatility 75% 132%
Expected lives 2.38 year 3 year
Expected dividend yiel - -
Risk free rate: 4.42% 5.04%
Expected forfeiture rat 14% 0%

The expected lives were determined by using thelffied method in accordance with Staff AccountBglletin 107.
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The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed far s estimating the fair value of traded optiondiich have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additi@ption valuation models require the input oftygsubjective assumptioriacluding the
expected stock price volatility. Because changeshi subjective input assumptions can materialfiecafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do noéssarily provide a reliable single measure offdlirevalue of its employee stock options.
I. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and faciliieder operating leases, of which rent expense ammwoximately $1,494,000 a
$1,150,000 for the years ended September 30, 20D2@06, respectively.

Rent expense for the Compasyoperating leases, which generally have escalaéntals over the term of the lease, is recordedguthe
straightline method over the initial lease term wherebyegnal amount of rent expense is attributed to @aciod during the term of the les
regardless of when actual payments are made. Gnénés results in rent expense in excess of q@gfments during the early years of a |
and rent expense less than cash payments in eyears. The difference between rent expense méad) and actual rental payment
recorded as other long-term liabilities in the aiitated balance sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $epéz 30, 2007 are as follows:

2008 $ 1,280,91
2009 1,235,11.
2010 1,218,88:
2011 1,224,09.
2012 1,196,10:
Thereaftel 9,847,06!

Total future minimum lease obligatio $ 16,002,16

Legal Matters
Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance of Houston, kas

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofuston passed a comprehensive new Ordinance rewyldt® location of and the cond
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the “Ordindhc@he Ordinance established new minimum distancesSfrually Oriented Busines:
may be located from schools, churches, playgrowrs other sexually oriented businesses. There wer@rovisions in the Ordinan
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagedea renewal of its operating permit due to clesnig distance requirements undel
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafiar a period of time (the “Amortization Periodf)the owner were unable to recoup, by
effective date of the Ordinance, its investmentthe business that was incurred through the dat¢hefpassage and approval of
Ordinance. Our nightclub in our south Houston tmcahad a valid temporary permit/license. Thenmi&s for our north Houston location &
our Bering Drive location have expired.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodlity of the entire Ordinance w
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the Wsstrict Court for the Southern District of Texddpuston Division, struck down cert
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prowisimandating a 1,500 foot distance between a clabsahools, churches and other sext
oriented businesses, leaving intact the provisiothe 750 foot distance as it existed prior to @relinance. The City of Houston appealec
District Court’s rulings with the Fifth Circuit Couof Appeals.
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In November 2003, a three judge panel from thehRifircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Cours ruling
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer i distances and licensing of dancers and.sfdfe Court of Appeals, however, did
follow the Trial Courts ruling regarding the distance from which a cluyrbe located from a church or school. The Cou#ppeals held thi
a distance measurement of 1,500 feet would be dpif@n a showing by the City of Houston that iirals that there were alternative <
available for relocating clubs could be substaatiatThe case was remanded for trial on the issueseddlternative sites.

The trial commenced on December 4, 2006 and coadloth December 12, 2006. The Trial Court rendasgjddgment in favor of the City
Houston on January 31, 2007. The Trial Court fotlvad the City of Houston met its burden that the@ege sufficient alternate sites availabl
relocate all of the existing businesses in 199He Trial Court found the 1997 ordinance constingicand enforceable. Pdsial motions wer
heard and the relief sought, a stay against enfogog was denied by the Trial Court. An appeatht Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals w
timely filed. The Fifth Circuit granted a stagmaing appeal. Oral argument was held before iftle €ircuit Court of Appeals on August
2007. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals ruledfawvor of the City of Houston in September, 200Teadings have been filed seeking a
against enforcement of the provisions of the onddgawith the United States Supreme Court in conjonowith the request that the Uni
States Supreme Court hear an appeal of the Fifttui€iCourt of Appeals ruling. Neither relief nany indication of the Supreme Couart’
position on the appeal has been received to date.

Additionally, we have filed on behalf of three afraclub locations in Houston state court lawsuésking judicial review of the results of
amortization process contained within the OrdinanClkis process was abated in 1998 due to the lgessiultiplicity of court actions. TI
final order by the Trial Court resulted in the témation of the abatement and allowed the amortmafirocesso continue as provided in t
Ordinance. We are presently in discussions wieh@ity of Houston to attempt to resolve this mattiéris anticipated that further injuncti
relief will be sought in the state court cases #thd@ubecome necessary. In the event all effartstop enforcement activity fail and the City
Houston elects to enforce the judgment, we, as agblvery other similarly situated sexually oridniteisiness located within the incorpor:
area of Houston, Texas, will have to either ceasgiging nude or semiiude entertainment or develop alternate methodpefating. In suc
event, we presently intend to clothe our entertaime a manner to eliminate the need for licensekta take such steps as to not be subije
SOB ordinance compliance. Approximately 23.7% wf dub operatiors revenues for the twelve months ended Septemhet(BT were i
Houston, Texas. The ruling could have a matedskese impact on our operations, but it is unknaivthis time.

Other Legal Matters

On October 6, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the #2uudicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-C15656 and style
Edward Jimenez, et al v. R's Cabaret International, Inc., et al This is a wrongful death and personal injury eaa$ action against tv
individuals, based upon negligence theories, amaihagus, based upon an alleged “joint enterprtisedry and alleged “dram shopiblations
arising out of a tworehicle collision on August 1, 2006. The collisioocurred prior to our acquiring Spiros Partners. [Sdiros Partners L1
owns and operates our Rick’'s San Antonio. Plawiifclude the parents - one of whom was driving the two juvenile decedents, one of
decedent minor siblings and another minor child, both dfomn were also passengers in the car that was sryitke allegedly intoxicat
defendant driver. Plaintiffs are seeking unspedifiamages for past and future physical pain anfersuf, mental anguish, physi
impairment, loss of companionship and consortiwmefal and medical expenses, property damagesexerdplary damagesManagemet
has denied any liability for this accident and igovously defending the lawsuit, which is preserntiythe discovery process with a motion
summary judgment (based upon there being no evedensupport any claim or contention against u$etdiled at the conclusion of the curt
phase of discovery.

On June 2, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the I3ludicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-008592 and style
Richard P. Branson v. Spiros Partner, Ltd. d/b/aeTenthouse Clu. This action occurred prior to our acquiring Spifartners Ltd. Spir
Partners Ltd. owns and operates our RicRan Antonio. This was a fraud, assault, abuggrafess, invasion of privacy and slander a
based upon the plaintiff’allegation that the Club intentionally took adweye of and assaulted him while he was there on 3Ju2004, the
subsequently was responsible for his maliciousgmaigon by the Bexar County District Attorney. Rl#f sought unspecified damages for |
and future physical pain and suffering, mental a@stguphysical disability, financial injury and exptary damages. Management does
believe it is liable for any of the damages. Thees no insurance coverage for the acts complaiheg the plaintiff. Management denied :
liability for these allegations and vigorously deded the lawsuit. On December 13, 2006, our mdborsummary judgment (based upon
plaintiff having no evidence to support any of b@ntentions) was granted in full. The plaintiff hagpealed this judgment and we F

responded. The case is pending before theaurt of Appeals in San Antonio, Texas.
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For all the above legal matters, no contingentrieseas liabilities have been recorded in the apamying balance sheets as such pote
losses are not deemed probable or estimable.

J. Segment Information

The following information is presented in accordaneith SFAS No. 131Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise anét&el
Information. The Company is engaged in adult night clubs andt ashiertainment websites (“Internet”yhe Company has identified st
segments based on management responsibility anghthee of the Compang’products, services and costs. There are no rditimctions i
geographical areas served as all operations atteeitunited States. The Company measures segmeiitt ggancome from operations. Tc
assets are those assets controlled by each relgostdment.

The following table sets forth certain informatiabout each segment’s financial information forykars ended September 30:

2007 2006
Business segment sali
Night clubs $ 31,283,31 $ 23,685,82
Internet 730,62¢ 801,39!

$ 32,013,94 $ 24,487,21
Business segment operating incot

Night clubs $ $6,643,19 $ $5,321,93
Internet 111,91¢ 130,51:
General corporate (2,651,430 (2,461,06)

$ 4,103,68 $ 2,991,38
Business segment capital expenditu

Night clubs $ $2,821,22 $ $3,590,91
Internet 2,14¢ 7,358
General corporat 2,686,10. 1,478,46!

$ 550947 $ 5,076,73i
Business segment depreciation and amortiza

Night clubs $ $1,341,34 $ $875,34
Internet 23,05¢ 32,92(
General corporate 232,24¢ 140,98!

$ 1,596,651 $ 1,049,24
Business segment asse

Night clubs $$31,313,74 $$23,670,61
Internet 110,87: 112,09:
General corporat 11,066,93 6,820,16!

$ 42,49155 $ 30,602,87
K. Common Stock
During the year ended September 30, 2006, thewollp common stock transactions occurred:
Stock options totaling 169,500 shares were exatdigeemployees and directors for proceeds of $&11a6d a noremployee exercised 25,(
stock options for $64,063. Also, 30,000 sharethefCompany’s common stock were sold to a eoployee for $75,000. In April 2006,
Company issued 160,000 shares of common stock d/ati$800,000 pursuant to the purchase of a bgjlthnated at 9009 Airport Blv(

Houston, Texas. The seller of the New York clubvested $1,925,000 of principal from the relatedrpissory note into 350,000 share:
restricted common stock. The Company issued 10s88res of common stock for $47,961 interest owed.
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K. Common Stock — Continued
During the year ended September 30, 2007, thewollp common stock transactions occurred:

Stock options totaling 252,500 shares were exealckse employees and directors for proceeds of $&80,Rlso, 675,000 shares of
Companys common stock were sold in two private transastifom $5,345,500, net of offering costs. The Conypalso sold 125,000 sha
subject to put rights for $1,033,750. The selletttef New York club converted $75,000 of principadni the related promissory note i
10,000 shares of restricted common stock. The Caynssued 84,579 shares of common stock for $40107principal and interest owed
existing convertible debt.

L. Related Party Transactions

In May 2002, the Company loaned $100,000 to Eriedzen, Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tlenis unsecured, bears intere:
11% and is amortized over a period of ten years. Adte contains a provision that in the event Mmgan leaves the Company for any re¢
the note immediately becomes due and payable linThaé balance of the note was approximately $61 &@d $70,000 at September 30, 2
and 2006, respectively, and is included in othesetsin the accompanying consolidated balance sh@&ée note was paid off in f
subsequent to September 30, 2007.

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcooavertible debenture with a greater than 10%e$twdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture is convertible into 220 §lodres of the Comparsycommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limitatsmuntil August 1, 2008. The debenture matureAwgust 1, 2009 and bears interest at a re
12% per annum. The debentures provide, absenttaildes approval, that the number of shares of tbm@anys common stock that may
issued by the Company or acquired by the holdeos @pnversion of the debentures shall not exceeg2B®® of the total number of issued
outstanding shares of the Compangbmmon stock. The Company also issued 50,0@Cldale warrants at $3.00 per share in relatiahi¢
debenture. The warrants are exercisable at anywiién the period beginning on July 22, 2005 ardieng on July 22, 2008. The value of
discount on note payable was estimated to be $%66a6 the date of grant using a Black-Scholes agiiicing model with the followin
assumptions:

Volatility 138%
Expected life 3 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2007 and 200€dimpany recorded $35,552 of interest expense yegah The debenture is secured by
Company’s ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RGil#ings, Inc., both are wholly owned subsidiariéthe Company.

The Company has accounted for this transactionruBdeerging Issues task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.200Application of Issue No. 98-tc
Certain Convertible InstrumentsThe value of the embedded beneficial conversgaiure on the note payable was estimated to b&55
which was calculated using the EITF Issue No59&edel. For the years ended September 30, 2002@0® the Company recorded $17,
and $20,944, respectively, of interest expensee@l the value of the embedded beneficial conwerfeature. The shares of Common S
underlying the principal amount of the Debenturd #me Warrants had piggyback registration rightd bacame registered with the SEC
September 1, 2005.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbbrtdebentures with three shareholders, one ofhvisi a greater than 10% shareholdel
a principal sum of $825,000. The debentures makpréd 30, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 12%agnnum. At the election of the hold
the holders have the right to convert (subjectddain limitations) until April 30, 2008, all or wrportion of the principal amount of t
debentures into shares of the Company’s commork stbe rate of $6.55 per share, which approximé#tedclosing price of the Compansy’
stock on April 28, 2006. The debentures provideealb shareholder approval, that the number of shafréthe Compang’ common stock th
may be issued by the Company or acquired by theéehelupon conversion of the debentures shall noceezk 19.99% of the total numbe!
issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s constock. $600,000 of the debentures is securedhéyCompanys property located
9009 Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas. The shares ofmthon Stock underlying the principal amount of debentures had piggyback registra
rights and were registered with SEC in June 200@. froceeds of the debentures were used for thas#toon of Joint Ventures, Inc.
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On November 9, 2006, we entered into convertibleedures with three shareholders for a principal sfi$600,000. The term is for two ye
and the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieleof the holders, the holders have the rightdavert (subject to certain limitations) all
any portion of the principal amount of the debeesuinto shares of our common stock at a rate &$@er share, which was higher than
closing price of our stock on November 9, 2006. @hbentures provide, absent shareholder apprdaliiie number of shares of our comi
stock that may be issued by us or acquired by théehs upon conversion of the debentures shalleroted 19.99% of the total numbe
issued and outstanding shares of our common stdekproceeds of the debentures were used for thesiiton of a 51% ownership interes
Playmates Gentlemen’s Club LLC.

M. Employee Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plantjich covers all of the Comparsytorporate employees. The Plan allows the corg
employees to contribute up to the maximum amoulowald by law, with the Company making a matchingitdbution of 3% of th
employees salary. Expenses related to matching contribstiorthe Plan approximated $39,000 and $39,00théoyears ended September
2007 and 2006, respectively.

N. Acquisitions and Dispositions

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered intock $urchase Agreement with an unrelated thirtypamereby the Company sold all
its 510 shares of common stock of RCI Ventures, 1oc$15,000 cash and a $235,000 note receivadeirg interest at a rate of 6% ow
five year period. The monthly payment related ftig tiote receivable is $4,453. In May 2006, the meteivable was restructured into a |
receivable with principal of $230,000, interestkeraf 7.5% over a ten year period. The monthly paynoé the restructured note is $2,730
As a part of the transaction, Trumps, Inc., a whollvned subsidiary of the Company, and Tantric Emises, Inc., a whollypwned subsidial
of RCI Ventures, Inc., entered into a five yearskeagreement for the property located at 5718 &airdHouston, Texas. The Company
recorded a $163,739 deferred gain related to thisaction for the year ended September 30, 208t gé@in will be recognized upon collect
of the note receivable. The deferred gain was dedgginst the note receivable, included in otheetssin the accompanying consolid:
balance sheet. In June 2007, the Company foretlose the account and note receivable in the agtgegmount of approximate
$249,000. The net result of the transaction was tiire Company wrote off the note and accountsthedelated deferred gain and recol
$53,000 in furniture and equipment in the forectesu

On April 5, 2006, the Comparg'wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. coetpd the acquisition of real property located &9
Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas where the Companyrenily operates Club Onyx South (previously Humn&psrts Bar and XTC South cluk
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Compaidya total purchase price of $1,300,000, whimfsisted of $500,000 in cash and 160
shares of the Comparg/restricted common stock. The purchase price (0R000 was determined to be the fair value ofréad propert
based on the nature of the restrictions of theesheisued in the transaction. As part of the tretimg the Company agreed to file a registre
statement for the resale of such restricted comstock within 45 days after the closing. The registn statement became effective on .
23, 2006. Additionally, nine months after the fijiof the registration statement, the Seller hasritigt, but not the obligation, to have
Company buy the shares at a price of $5.00 peesitaa rate of no more than 10,000 shares per maorihsuch time as the Seller receivi
total of $800,000 from the sale of such sharesralitively, the Seller has the option to sell ssithres in the open market. As of Septembe
2007, 90,000 of the shares of restricted commorksiere classified on the consolidated balancetsietemporary equity in accordance \
EITF Topic D-98,Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Sitesur The transaction was the result of arersgth negotiatior
between the parties.

On May 9, 2006, the Company purchased Joint Vesiune., an operator of an adult nightclub in Sadthuston, Texas, formerly known
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HauBled. The purchase price of $840,000 was paictash. In anticipation of tr
acquisition, on April 28, 2006, the Company borrdv825,000 under convertible debentures. The ¢bdated in a Houston suburb, has t
converted to an XTC Cabaret.
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The following information summarizes the final detéation of the purchase price allocation:

Current assel $ 7,72(
Property & equipmer 390,00(
Discounted leas 103,54¢
Non-compete agreeme 90,00(
License 248,73.
Net assets acquire $ 840,00(

Proforma results of operations have not been peayids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On July 7, 2006, the Company entered into a stockh@ase agreement to acquire Texas Sé&l, Inc., agesrporation, for $125,000, consis
of $55,000 paid in cash at closing and $70,000fimeayear note payable bearing interest at aoh#® per annum. As of September 30, 2
the note has been fully paid. Texas S&I, Inc. oward operated Club Exotica in San Antonio. The Camyrhas converted this club intGluk
Onyx--San Antonio”.

The following information summarizes the final detéation of the purchase price allocation.

Other asset $ 7,50C
Property & equipment 117,50(
Net assets acquire $ 125,00(

Proforma results of operations have not been peakids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On August 24, 2006, the Compasysubsidiary, RCI Debit Services, Inc., acquire@&98f the ownership interest in an adult entertaim
cabaret known as “Centerfoldé3cated at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TeRaslitionally, under the terms of the transactitme
Companys subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100%ldf interest in the improved real property upon Whienterfolds is located. T
total purchase price for the business and realgotppvas $2,900,000. Under terms of the agreentleatCompany paid the owners of the
and property $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory notes for the remainingrizd. In addition, certain members of
current ownership structure entered into five-yaarenants not to compete with the Company.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assel $ 22,50(
Property & equipmer 2,127,50!
Non-compete agreemer 250,00(
Goodwill 500,00(
Net assets acquire $ 2,900,00i

Proforma results of operations have not been peayids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On October 11, 2006, the Company sold its propeitieWise County for $165,000, which was the vadfighe properties included in {
Company’s consolidated balance sheet at Septen@h@086 after recording an impairment charge of $88.
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On November 10, 2006, the Company purchased a 5dfership interest of Playmates Gentlense@lub LLC, an operator of an ac
nightclub in Austin, Texas. The club is located®&i0 Springdale Street. The purchase price &3Rl750 was paid $500,000 cash at clc
and 125,000 shares of the Company’s restricted aomstock, valued at $8.27 per share in accordarideBATF 99412. The club has be
converted to a Rick' Austin. As part of the agreement, twelve morthier the closing date, the seller has the right,rot the obligation, -
have the Company buy the shares at a price of §80Ghare at a rate of no more than 5,000 shamemepnth until such time as the se
receives a total of $1,000,000 from the sale ohssttares. Alternatively, the seller has the optmsell such shares in the open market.
transaction was the result of artesigth negotiations between the parties. As altre$,000,000 was added to temporary equity ir
accompanying balance sheet.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggslet the acquisition date.

Property and equipme $ 633,41:
Non-compete agreeme 175,00(
Goodwill 725,33
Net assets acquire $ 1,533,755

The results of operations of this acquired entityiacluded in the Company’s results of operatigsinse November 10, 2006.

Proforma results of operations have not been peakids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On April 23, 2007, the Company completed a tratisador the purchase of 100% of the outstandingnemn stock of W.K.C., Inc., a Te»
corporation (the "Business"), which owned and ofgeran adult entertainment cabaret known as Newadsl Nights ("New Orleans Night
located in Fort Worth, Texas. Pursuant to theksfmorchase agreement, the Company acquired then@ssfor a total cash purchase pric
$4,900,000. As part of the transaction, the salidgered a fiverear covenant not to compete with the CompanyherBusiness. In additic
RCI Holdings, Inc., the Compars/’wholly owned subsidiary ("RCI"), entered into assignment of that certain real estate sales ao
between the owner of the property and W.K.C., facthe purchase of the real property located &tl7Galmont, Fort Worth, Texas 76116 1
"Real Property") where New Orleans Nights is lodater a total purchase price of $2,500,000, whiohnsisted of $100,000 in cash
$2,400,000 payable in a six year promissory notiiéosellers which will accrue interest at the 1@it&.25% for the first two years, 8.25%
years three and four and 9.25% thereafter (the miiRsory Note"). The Promissory Note is securedabyleed of trust and secu
agreement. Further, RCI entered into an assignimethtassumption of lease agreement with the sebleassume the lease agreement fo
Real Property.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfrfair values assigned to the assets and liggslet the acquisition date.

Net current asse $ 30,48¢
Property and equipme 2,968,12
Non-compete agreeme 100,00(
Goodwill 1,540,29.
SOB license: 4,401,51:
Deferred tax liability 1,540,29)
Net assets acquire $ 7,500,122

The results of operations of this acquired entigyiacluded in the Company’s results of operatisinse April 24, 2007.

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of
immediate preceding period. WK&Ebperations are for the calendar year 2006. Toidgpma information is not necessarily indicatafewha
would have occurred had the acquisition been mad# such periods, nor is it indicative of futuesults of operations. The pro forma amo
give effect to appropriate adjustments for the ¥aiue of the assets acquired, amortization ohigitales and interest expense.

55




Table of Content
RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

N. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued

2007 2006
Revenue! $ 34,732,72 $ 28,538,00
Net income from continuing operatio 3,613,87: 2,356,001
Net income 3,613,87! 2,356,001
Net income per sha~ basic $ 06z $ 0.44
Net income per sha~ diluted $ 05¢ $ 0.41
Weighted average shares outstan« basic 5,700,54i 5,316,00!
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted 6,215,28! 5,741,00!

On May 10, 2007, the Company entered into a Licensigreement with Rick’s Buenos Aires Sociedad Aman(“Licensee”),a corporatio
organized under the laws of Argentina. The Compagreed to grant Licensee a license for use antbigagon of the Compang’ logos
trademarks and service marks for the operation rofadult entertainment facility in the city of Buend\ires, Argentina, and Lal
America. Pursuant to the agreement, Licensee ddoepay the Company a royalty fee equal to 109%ro$s revenues of Licensedjusines
net of any value added tax. No club has opened #8s time, but plans are for a location to op@nbusiness by the end of the second qu
of 2008.

P. Subsequent Events

In November 2007, the holder of a convertible détrenelected to convert all remaining principal4$#89) and accrued interest ($21,44!
date under the debenture into 150,134 shares @ahgpany’s restricted common stock. See Note F.

In November 2007, Eric Langan, Chief Executive &fiof the Company paid off in full his note payatd the Company. See Note L.

On November 19, 2007, the Company completed ateripcement of equity securities solely to actestlinvestors. Pursuant to the pri
placement, the Company issued 1,165,000 shardseo€ompanys restricted common stock at a price of $14.00gbare for a total gro
offering price of $16,310,000 with net proceedsapproximately $15,000,000 to the Company after eges. Pursuant to the terms of
transaction, the Company is obligated to file dagtegtion statement no later than February 15, 2008 offer and sale of the common s!
was made pursuant to exemptions from the registratequirements of the Act pursuant to Section 42) Rule 506 of Regulation
promulgated thereunder. All of the offers and saleshe common stock were made exclusively to “aedited investors”gs such term
defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D) in offerslasales not involving a public offering. The puasers purchased the securities for their
account and not with a view towards or for res@le private placement was conducted without gersedaitation or advertising.

On October 17, 2007, the Company entered into @&h@ge Agreement pursuant to the terms of whichGbmpanys subsidiary, RC
Entertainment (Philadelphia), Inc. (the “Purchajewill acquire from Vincent Piazza (“Seller§1% of the issued and outstanding shar
common stock (the “TEZ Shares”) of The End Zone,,la Pennsylvania corporation (the “TEZ") whichrerand operatesCrazy Horse Tc
Cabaret” (the “Club*) located at 2908 South ColumtBlvd., Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19148 (the diREroperty”). As part of th
transaction, the Company’s subsidiary, RCI Holdjrgs. (“RCI Holdings™)will acquire from Seller or the Piazza Family Lisit Partnersh
(the “Partnership Seller”) 51% of the issued andst@nding partnership interest (the “Partnershiferbsts”)in TEZ Real Estate, LP,
Pennsylvania limited partnership (the “Partnershigid 51% of the issued and outstanding membenstapest (the “Membership Interests#)
TEZ Management, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited lidpikompany, which is the general partner of thdreaship (the “General Partner’T.he
Partnership owns the Real Property where the Glidcated. At closing, the Company will pay a fase price of $3,500,000 payable in «
for the Partnership Interests and Membership Istereand the Company will issue 225,000 sharekeofClompanys restricted common stc
(the “Rick’s Shares”) for the TEZ Shares.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreemerdr after one year after the closing date, theeBshall have the right, but not the obliga
to have Rick’s purchase from Seller 10,000 Ricksm@s per month (the “Monthly Sharestglculated at a price per share equal to $:
(“Value of the Rick’s Shares”) until the Seller hageived a total of $2,250,000 from the sale effick’'s Shares. At the Compagyelectiol
during any given month, the Company may either theyMonthly Shares or, if the Company elects ndvug the Monthly Shares from |
Seller, then the Seller shall sell the Monthly ®isain the open market. Any deficiency betweenatin@unt which the Seller receives from
sale of the Monthly Shares and the Value of th&K'RiShares shall be paid by the Company within tfBgbusiness days of the date of sa
the Monthly Shares during that particular monttihe Tompanys obligation to purchase the Monthly Shares frommSkller shall terminate a
cease at such time as the Seller has receivedlafd2,250,000 from the sale of the Rick’s Shaned any deficiency.

Upon closing of the transaction, the Seller andRhaetnership Seller will enter into a fiyear agreement not to compete with the Com
within a twenty (20) mile radius of the Club. Fuethat closing the Purchaser and the Seller shdrénto a Shareholder’Agreement relatir
to their ownership interest in TEZ; and RCI Holdingnd the Partnership Seller shall enter into at Amendment to Limited Partners
Agreement relating to the ownership of their pash@ interests and a First Amendment to Operafiggeement relating to the ownershig
their membership interests. Further, at closing Tl enter into a new lease agreement with therfeaship giving it the right to lease
Real Property for twenty (20) years at $50,000menth. Finally, as part of the transaction, thenPany will enter into a Lock-up/Leadui
Agreement with the Seller regarding the sale ofRiek’s Shares.

The Agreement provides for the transaction to ctwser before seven (7) days after the approvéh@transfer of the TEZ Shares to Purch
by the Pennsylvania Liquor Control Board, but inevent later than January 15, 2008, contingent wiaining acceptable financing, tran:
of all necessary licenses and permits, and othaditons to closing typical for transactions ofstiature.

On November 30, 2007, the Company entered intooakSPurchase Agreement for the acquisition of 10ff%he issued and outstand
common stock of Stellar Management Corporationloaida corporation (the "Stellar Stock™") and 100%dte issued and outstanding comt
stock of Miami Garden Square One, Inc., a Floridgooration (the "MGSO Stock") which owns and opesaan adult entertainment cab
known as "Tootsie’s Cabaret" ("Toots¥ located at 150 NW 183rd Street, Miami Gardéibsrida 33169 (the "Transaction"). Pursuant tc
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company acquireStiiar Stock and the MGSO Stock from Norman Hicken@Hickmore") and Richa
Stanton ("Stanton") for a total purchase price 5,800,000 payable $15,000,000 in cash and paylfl@00,000 pursuant to two Sect
Promissory Notes in the amount of $5,000,000 eachtanton and Hickmore (the "Notes"). The Note$ behr interest at the rate of 14%
annum with the principal payable in one lump sumnpant on November 30, 2010. Interest on the Notsbe payable monthly, in arrea
with the first payment being due thirty (30) day&eathe closing of the Transaction. The Companynca prepay the Notes during the fi
twelve (12) months; thereafter, the Company mapayehe Notes, in whole or in part, provided thipagy prepayment by the Company fi
December 1, 2008 through November 30, 2009, sleafiahd at a rate of 110% of the original principalount and (ii) any prepayment by
Company after November 30, 2009, may be prepaidonitpenalty at a rate of 100% of the original pipal amount. The Notes are secure
the Stellar Stock and MGSO Stock under a PledgeSamdrity Agreement. As part of the Transactioitkrhore and Stanton entered into five-
year covenants not to compete with the Company.itibaelly, as part of the Transaction, the Compamyered into Assignment to Le
Agreements with the landlord for the property wh@oetsies is located. The underlying Lease AgreementsHerproperty provide for i
original lease term through June 30, 2014, with tytion periods which give the Company the rightease the property through June
2034. The terms and conditions of the transaatiere the result of extensive arm's length negotiatbetween the parties.

On October 12, 2007, we borrowed $1,000,000 fromnaestment company under terms of a 10% convertitdbenture. Interest only
payable quarterly until the principal plus accrurg@rest is due in nine equal quarterly paymentgrmng in October 2008. The debentut
subject to optional redemption at any time afte6 ays from the date of issuance at 100% of thecypal face amount plus accr
interest. The debenture plus any outstanding atibleinterest is convertible by the holder inteages of our common stock at any time
to the maturity date at the conversion price of &Rshare.
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Exhibit 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name State of Organizatio
Bobby's Novelty, Inc Texas
Broadstreets Cabaret, Ir Texas
Citation Land LLC Texas
Joint Ventures, Inc Texas
New Spiros, LLC Texas
Peregrine Enterprises, i New York
Playmates, LLC Texas
RCI Billing, Inc. Texas
RCI Dating Services, In Texas
RCI Debit Services, Inc Texas
RCI Entertainment (Austin), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Ft. Worth), In Texas
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Ir Minnesots
RCI Entertainment (New York), In New York
RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Ir North Caroling
RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Ir Texas
RCI Entertainment Texas, In Texas
RCI Holdings, Inc Texas
RCI Internet Holding, Inc Texas
RCI Internet Services, In Texas
Spiros Partners Ltc Texas
SRD Vending Compan Texas
Tantra Dance, Inc Texas
Tantra Parking, Inc Texas
Texas S&l, Inc Texas
Top Shelf LLC North Caroling
Trumps Inc. Texas
W.K.C., Inc. Texas

XTC Cabaret, Inc Texas




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer of RiskCabaret International, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-KSB of Rick’ s Cabaret International, In
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtede a material fact necessar

makethe statements made, in light of the circumstangeer which such statements were made, not misigaslith respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,atiner financial information included in th report, fairly present in all matel
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the small business issuef,eend for, the periods presente
this report;

4. T he small business issu’ s other certifying officeand | areresponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls ar

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule-15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the small business issuer and h

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused sich disclosure controls and procedures to be dedignder m
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatiieg to the small business issuer, includingcdssolidated subsidiaries
made known to us by others within those entitiestigularly during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assaraggarding the reliability of financial reporting and theeparation ¢
financial statements for external purposes in ataroece with generally accepted accounting princjj

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the small busingsser's disclosure controls d procedures and presented in this repor
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsuontrols and procedures, as of the end of tHegeovered by this repc
based on such evaluation; &

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in #meall business issuer's internal control over fam@reporting that occurred duri
the small business issuer's most recent fiscal yedrhas materially affected, or is reasonablgliiko materially affect, tt
small business issuer's internal « rol over financial reporting; an

5. T he small business issuer ' s other certifyingceff and | have disclosed, based on mast recent evaluation of internal control ¢
financial reporting, to the small business issueidependent registered pubhccounting firm and the audit committee of the $
business issuer's board of directors (or persorisrp@ang the equivalent functions

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controkwofina ncial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect simeall business issuer's ability to record, procesmmarize and rep:
financial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees wihave a significant role in the sn
business issuer's internal control over finan@gbrting.

Date: December 19, 2007 By: /s/ Eric S. Langa
Eric S. Langan
Chief Executive Officer/Principal Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Phillip K. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer dRick’s Cabaret International, Inc., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-KSB of Rick’ s Cabaret International, I1.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtede a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, négadisgwith respect to tt
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cab flows of the small business issuer as of, angdtfar periods presentec
this report;

4. T he small business issu’ s other certifying officeiand| areresponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls ar

procedures (as defined in Ichange Act Rules 1-15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the small business issuer and h

€) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under 1
supervision, to ensure that material infamtion relating to the small business issuer, indgds consolidated subsidiaries
made known to us by others within those entitiestipularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing preparec

(b) Designed such internal control over éincial reporting, or caused such internal contvelrdinancial reporting to be desigr
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assaramgarding the reliability of financial reportimgd the preparation
financial statements for external puis es in accordance with generally accepted accouptingiples;

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the small businesser's disclosure controls and procedures aneérmiegsin this report o
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of the periodreavby this repc
based on such evaluation; &

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the smadlitess issuer's internal control over financiabrépg that occurred durit
the small businesssuer's most recent fiscal year that has matgrdfected, or is reasonably likely to materiallfeat, the
small business issuer's internal control over famreporting; anc

5. T he small business issuer ’ s other certifyingceff and | have di sclosed, based onmost recent evaluation of internal control ¢
financial reporting, to the small business issueidependent registered public accounting firm #red audit committee of the sir
business issuer's board of directors (or persoirforming the equivalent functions

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controeofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect #eall business issuer's ability to gerd, process, summarize and re
financial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the sma
business issuer's internal control over finan@gbrting.

Date: December 19, 2007 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshall
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Financial Offic




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick's Cagtalnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on Form K8B for the year endt
September 30, 2007 as filed with the SecuritiesExthange Commission on the date hereof (the "R§pbrEric S. Langan, Chief Executi
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 I€.S§1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906ecb#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadi and results 1
operations of the Compan

Date: December 19, 2007 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal
Eric S. Langar
Chief Executive Officer/Principal Executive Offic




L
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick's Cagtalnternational, Inc. (the "Company") on Form K8B for the year endt
September 30, 2007 as filed with the Securities Brehange Commission on the date hereof (the "R§pdy Phillip K. Marshall, Chie
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuémtl8 U.S.C. 81350, as adopted pursuant to Se@érof the Sarbane3xley Act of 200z
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2 The information contained in the Report fairly pgress, in all material respects, the financial ctadi and results «
operations of the Compan

Date: December 19, 20( By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Financial Office




